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HEIDRICK & STRUGGLES INTERNATIONAL, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
 

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(In thousands, except share amounts)

 

   

September 30,
2004

  

December 31,
2003

   (Unaudited)    
Current assets:         

Cash and cash equivalents   $ 280,231  $ 119,289
Accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts    56,422   46,847
Other receivables    2,195   3,191
Prepaid expenses    9,099   9,022
Deferred income taxes    7,035   —  

     
Total current assets    354,982   178,349

     
Non-current assets:         

Property and equipment, net    28,348   33,466
Assets designated for retirement and pension plans    28,840   28,751
Investments    3,331   2,842
Other non-current assets    3,552   4,226
Goodwill    48,622   48,627
Other intangible assets, net    7,109   7,771

     
Total non-current assets    119,802   125,683

     
Total assets   $ 474,784  $ 304,032

     
 

The accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements are an integral part of these statements.
 

1



Table of Contents

HEIDRICK & STRUGGLES INTERNATIONAL, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
 

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(In thousands, except share amounts)

 

   

September 30,
2004

  

December 31,
2003

 
   (Unaudited)     
Current liabilities:          

Current maturities of long-term debt   $ 25  $ 568 
Accounts payable    6,688   7,196 
Accrued salaries and employee benefits    86,429   61,275 
Other accrued liabilities    91,806   21,660 
Current portion of accrued restructuring charges    10,830   18,090 
Income taxes payable, net    13,035   4,349 

    
Total current liabilities    208,813   113,138 

    
Non-current liabilities:          

Long-term debt, less current maturities    —     26 
Retirement and pension plans    33,113   32,232 
Non-current portion of accrued restructuring charges    22,100   27,698 
Other non-current liabilities    5,694   4,729 

    
Total non-current liabilities    60,907   64,685 

    
Total liabilities    269,720   177,823 
    
Stockholders’ equity:          

Preferred stock, $.01 par value, 10,000,000 shares authorized, no shares issued at September 30, 2004 and December
31, 2003    —     —   

Common stock, $.01 par value, 100,000,000 shares authorized, of which 19,166,798 and 18,339,567 shares were
outstanding at September 30, 2004 and December 31, 2003, respectively    196   196 

Treasury stock at cost, 418,979 and 1,246,210 shares at September 30, 2004 and December 31, 2003, respectively    (7,357)  (21,898)
Additional paid in capital    242,963   250,489 
Accumulated deficit    (33,595)  (106,895)
Accumulated other comprehensive income    5,951   6,712 
Deferred stock-based compensation    (3,094)  (2,395)

    
Total stockholders’ equity    205,064   126,209 

    
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity   $ 474,784  $ 304,032 

    
 

The accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements are an integral part of these statements.
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HEIDRICK & STRUGGLES INTERNATIONAL, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(In thousands, except per share amounts)

(Unaudited)
 

   

Three Months Ended
September 30,

  

Nine Months Ended
September 30,

 

   

2004

  

2003

  

2004

  

2003

 
Revenue:                  

Revenue before reimbursements (net revenue)   $91,607  $76,941  $276,762  $235,926 
Reimbursements    4,750   5,531   14,903   17,417 

      
Total revenue    96,357   82,472   291,665   253,343 

      
Operating expenses:                  

Salaries and employee benefits    60,378   51,148   188,046   168,215 
General and administrative expenses    23,033   21,081   66,804   64,041 
Reimbursed expenses    4,750   5,531   14,903   17,417 
Restructuring charges    —     1,413   —     6,913 

      
Total operating expenses    88,161   79,173   269,753   256,586 

      
Operating income (loss)    8,196   3,299   21,912   (3,243)
      
Non-operating income (expense):                  

Interest income    671   383   1,366   1,343 
Interest expense    (19)  (20)  (42)  (110)
Realized and unrealized gains on equity and warrant portfolio, net of the consultants’ share of the gains    56,445   199   56,967   447 
Other, net    158   115   52   (1,022)

      
Net non-operating income    57,255   677   58,343   658 

      
Income (loss) before income taxes    65,451   3,976   80,255   (2,585)

Provision for income taxes    3,302   2,924   6,955   5,709 
      
Net income (loss)   $62,149  $ 1,052  $ 73,300  $ (8,294)

      
Basic earnings (loss) per common share   $ 3.25  $ 0.06  $ 3.88  $ (0.46)

      
Diluted earnings (loss) per common share   $ 3.08  $ 0.05  $ 3.68  $ (0.46)

      
Weighted average common shares outstanding:                  

Basic    19,124   18,261   18,872   18,186 
Diluted    20,167   19,141   19,895   18,186 

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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HEIDRICK & STRUGGLES INTERNATIONAL, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY AND
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)

(In thousands)
(Unaudited)

 

   

Common Stock

  
Treasury

Stock

 

 Additional
Paid in
Capital

 

 
Accumulated

Deficit

 

 

Accumulated
Other

Compre-
hensive
Income
(Loss)

 

 

Deferred
Stock-
Based

Compen-
sation

 

 

Total

    

Shares

  

Amount

       
Balance at December 31, 2003   18,340  $ 196  $(21,898) $250,489  $ (106,895) $ 6,712  $(2,395) $126,209 

Net income   —     —     —     —     73,300   —     —     73,300 

Other comprehensive income (loss):                                 
Unrealized gain on available-for-sale investments   —     —     —     —     —     3   —     3 
Foreign currency translation adjustment   —     —     —     —     —     (764)  —     (764)

            
Total comprehensive income (loss)   —     —     —     —     73,300   (761)  —     72,539 
            
Treasury and common stock transactions:                                 

Issuance of restricted stock units   —     —     —     3,131   —     —     (3,131)  —   

Amortization of deferred stock-based compensation   —     —     —     —     —     —     2,429   2,429 

Other stock-based compensation   —     —     —     304   —     —     —     304 

Forfeitures of restricted stock units   —     —     —     (1,168)  —     —     3   (1,165)

Exercise of stock options   479   —     8,422   (908)  —     —     —     7,514 

Vested restricted stock units, net of tax withholdings   348   —     6,119   (8,885)  —     —     —     (2,766)
            
Balance at September 30, 2004   19,167  $ 196  $ (7,357) $242,963  $ (33,595) $ 5,951  $(3,094) $205,064 
            
 

The accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements are an integral part of these statements.
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HEIDRICK & STRUGGLES INTERNATIONAL, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(In thousands)
(Unaudited)

 

   

Nine Months Ended
September 30,

 

   

2004

  

2003

 
Cash flows from operating activities:          

Net income (loss)   $ 73,300  $ (8,294)
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash provided by operating activities:          

Depreciation and amortization    9,702   10,393 
Deferred income taxes    (7,035)  3,589 
Net realized and unrealized losses (gains) on equity and warrant portfolio    (56,967)  (447)
Stock-based compensation expense, net    1,568   3,364 
Restructuring charges    —     6,913 
Cash paid for restructuring charges    (12,858)  (16,611)
Changes in assets and liabilities:          

Trade and other receivables    (8,700)  (6,334)
Accounts payable    (483)  (2,587)
Accrued expenses    20,598   (11,240)
Income taxes recoverable (payable), net    8,741   16,157 
Other, net    746   8,312 

    
Net cash provided by operating activities    28,612   3,215 

    
Cash flows from investing activities:          

Capital expenditures    (3,948)  (4,231)
Proceeds from sales of equity securities    128,920   605 
Other, net    118   437 

    
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities    125,090   (3,189)

    
Cash flows from financing activities:          

Payments on debt    (569)  (476)
Proceeds from stock options exercised    7,514   806 
Purchases of treasury stock    —     (3,175)

    
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities    6,945   (2,845)

    
Effect of foreign currency exchange rates on cash and cash equivalents    295   2,763 
    
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents    160,942   (56)

Cash and cash equivalents:          
Beginning of period    119,289   110,220 

    
End of period   $280,231  $110,164 

    
 

The accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements are an integral part of these statements.
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Heidrick & Struggles International, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

(All tables in thousands, except per share amounts)
(Unaudited)

 
1. Basis of Presentation of Interim Financial Information
 The accompanying unaudited consolidated financial statements of Heidrick & Struggles International, Inc., and Subsidiaries (the “Company”), included
herein have been prepared pursuant to the rules and regulations of the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”). The preparation of financial
statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions
that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses. Actual results could differ from those estimates. In the opinion of management, the
statements reflect all adjustments, which are of a normal recurring nature, necessary to present fairly the Company’s financial position, results of operations,
stockholders’ equity and cash flows. These financial statements and notes are to be read in conjunction with the Company’s Consolidated Financial Statements
and Notes thereto included in the Company’s Annual Report to Shareholders on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2003, as filed with the SEC on
March 12, 2004.
 
2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
 The Company’s significant accounting policies are discussed in Note 1 of the Consolidated Financial Statements and Notes thereto included in the
Company’s Annual Report to Shareholders on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2003, as filed with the SEC on March 12, 2004.
 

Stock-Based Compensation
 The Company applies the intrinsic-value-based method of accounting prescribed by Accounting Principles Board (“APB”) Opinion No. 25, “Accounting
for Stock Issued to Employees,” and related interpretations including Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) Interpretation No. 44, “Accounting for
Certain Transactions Involving Stock Compensation,” an interpretation of APB Opinion No. 25, issued in March 2000, to account for fixed-plan stock options.
Under this method, compensation expense is recorded on the date of grant only if the current market price of the underlying stock exceeds the exercise price.
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation,” established accounting and disclosure
requirements using a fair-value-based method of accounting for stock-based employee compensation plans. As allowed by SFAS No. 123, the Company has
elected to continue to apply the intrinsic-value-based method of accounting described above, and has adopted only the disclosure requirements of SFAS No. 123.
 

Had compensation expense been determined based upon fair value at the grant date for all awards in accordance with SFAS No. 123, the Company’s pro
forma net income (loss) and basic and diluted earnings (loss) per common share would have been as follows:
 

   

Three Months Ended
September 30,

  

Nine Months Ended
September 30,

 

   

2004

  

2003

  

2004

  

2003

 
Net income (loss):                  

As reported   $62,149  $ 1,052  $73,300  $ (8,294)
Add: Stock-based compensation expense already included in net income, net of tax in 2003    716   1,004   1,568   1,985 
Deduct: Pro forma employee compensation cost related to stock options, restricted stock units and

performance share plan, net of tax in 2003    (2,946)  (3,059)  (8,074)  (8,381)
      

Pro forma   $59,919  $(1,003) $66,794  $(14,690)

      
Basic earnings (loss) per share:                  

As reported   $ 3.25  $ 0.06  $ 3.88  $ (0.46)
Pro forma    3.13   (0.05)  3.54   (0.81)

Diluted earnings (loss) per share:                  
As reported   $ 3.08  $ 0.05  $ 3.68  $ (0.46)
Pro forma    3.03   (0.05)  3.38   (0.81)
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Investments
 The Company receives warrants for equity securities in client companies, in addition to the cash fee, for services rendered on some searches. Some of the
warrants meet the definition of a derivative instrument under SFAS No. 133, “Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities,” and its subsequent
amendments. SFAS No. 133 establishes accounting and reporting standards requiring that every derivative instrument be recorded in the balance sheet as either an
asset or liability measured at its fair value. These derivative instruments are initially recorded at their fair value, using the Black Scholes model, in the
Consolidated Balance Sheet, with a corresponding amount recorded as net revenue in the Consolidated Statement of Operations. Compensation expense related to
this net revenue is also recorded. Subsequent changes in the fair value of these derivative instruments are recorded in the Consolidated Statement of Operations as
unrealized gains (losses), net of the consultants’ share of the gains (losses).
 

Other warrants received and which do not meet the definition of a derivative instrument under SFAS No. 133 are initially recorded at their fair value, using
the Black Scholes model, in the Consolidated Balance Sheet, with a corresponding amount recorded as net revenue in the Consolidated Statement of Operations.
Compensation expense related to this net revenue is also recorded. These warrants are accounted for using the cost method, and subsequent changes in fair value
are not recognized. However, these warrants are regularly reviewed for other-than-temporary declines in fair value. Any declines in the fair value of these
warrants are recorded in the Consolidated Statement of Operations as unrealized losses, net of the consultants’ share of the losses.
 

Upon a value event such as an initial public offering or an acquisition, any changes in the fair value of the warrants, both derivatives and non-derivatives,
are recorded in the Consolidated Statement of Operations as unrealized gains (losses), net of the consultants’ share of the gains (losses).
 

Any equity securities arising from the exercise of a warrant are accounted for as available-for-sale investments in accordance with SFAS No. 115,
“Accounting for Certain Investments in Debt and Equity Securities.” Subsequent changes in the fair value of these available-for-sale investments are recorded as
a component of accumulated other comprehensive income. Upon the sale of these investments, the Company records a realized gain (loss), net of the consultants’
share of the gain (loss) and other costs.
 
Reclassifications
 Certain amounts in previously issued financial statements have been reclassified to conform to the 2004 classifications.
 
3. Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets
 Goodwill
 Changes in the carrying amount of goodwill for the nine months ended September 30, 2004 are as follows:
 

   

North
America

  

Europe

  

Asia
Pacific

  

Total

 
Balance at December 31, 2003   $18,362  $28,701  $1,564  $48,627 

Exchange rate fluctuations    —     (18)  13   (5)
        
Balance at September 30, 2004   $18,362  $28,683  $1,577  $48,622 
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Pursuant to the requirements of SFAS No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets,” the Company performed its annual impairment test of goodwill in
the fourth quarter of 2003. The goodwill impairment test compares the fair value of a reporting unit with its carrying amount, including goodwill. If the carrying
amount of a reporting unit exceeds its fair value, goodwill of the reporting unit would be considered impaired. To measure the amount of the impairment loss, the
implied fair value of a reporting unit’s goodwill is compared to the carrying amount of that goodwill. If the carrying amount of a reporting unit’s goodwill
exceeds the implied fair value of that goodwill, an impairment loss shall be recognized in an amount equal to that excess. The implied fair value of goodwill shall
be determined in the same manner as the amount of goodwill recognized in a business combination is determined. The fair value of each of the Company’s
reporting units was determined using a combination of valuation techniques, including a discounted cash flow methodology and comparable public company
methodology, with the assistance of an independent valuation firm. These impairment tests indicated that the fair value of each reporting unit exceeded its
carrying amount. As a result, no impairment charge was recorded.
 

Other Intangible Assets
 The carrying amount of amortizable other intangible assets and the related accumulated amortization are as follows:
 

 

  
Weighted
Average

Life

  

September 30, 2004

  

December 31, 2003

    

Gross
Carrying
Amount

  

Accumulated
Amortization

  

Net
Carrying
Amount

  

Gross
Carrying
Amount

  

Accumulated
Amortization

  

Net
Carrying
Amount

Client relationships   14.3  $11,302  $ (4,193) $ 7,109  $11,302  $ (3,537) $ 7,765

Other intangible assets   3.4   1,625   (1,625)  —     1,625   (1,619)  6
              
Total      $12,927  $ (5,818) $ 7,109  $12,927  $ (5,156) $ 7,771

              
 

Intangible amortization expense for the three months ended September 30, 2004 and 2003 was $219 thousand and $347 thousand, respectively. Intangible
amortization expense for the nine months ended September 30, 2004 and 2003 was $662 thousand and $1.2 million, respectively. The estimated amortization
expense for each of the next five years is as follows:
 

Year Ended December 31,

   
2004   $881
2005    874
2006    874
2007    874
2008    874
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4. Basic and Diluted Earnings (Loss) Per Common Share
 A reconciliation of the basic and diluted earnings (loss) per common share, and the shares used in the computation, are as follows:
 

   

Three Months Ended
September 30,

  

Nine Months Ended
September 30,

 

   

2004

  

2003

  

2004

  

2003

 
Basic earnings (loss) per common share:                  

Net income (loss)   $62,149  $ 1,052  $73,300  $ (8,294)

Weighted average common shares outstanding    19,124   18,261   18,872   18,186 

Basic earnings (loss) per common share   $ 3.25  $ 0.06  $ 3.88  $ (0.46)

Diluted earnings (loss) per common share:                  
Net income (loss)   $62,149  $ 1,052  $73,300  $ (8,294)
Weighted average common shares outstanding    19,124   18,261   18,872   18,186 
Dilutive common shares    1,043   880   1,023   —   

         
Weighted average diluted common shares outstanding    20,167   19,141   19,895   18,186 

         
Diluted earnings (loss) per common share   $ 3.08  $ 0.05  $ 3.68  $ (0.46)

 
For the nine months ended September 30, 2003, there were approximately 0.6 million dilutive common shares that were not included in the computation of

the loss per common share because the effect of their inclusion would have been anti-dilutive.
 
5. Segment Information
 The Company operates its executive search and complementary leadership services in four geographic regions: North America, which includes the United
States (except Miami) and Canada; Latin America, which includes Mexico and the rest of Latin America, as well as Miami, which serves as the gateway office to
the region; Europe; and Asia Pacific.
 

Reimbursements of out-of-pocket expenses are characterized as revenue. For segment purposes, the reimbursements of out-of-pocket expenses are reported
separately and therefore do not affect the analysis of net revenue by geographic region. Related reimbursed expenses are shown separately within operating
expenses. The presentation of reimbursements of out-of-pocket expenses has no impact on the consolidated operating income (loss) or on the operating income
(loss) of the geographic regions. The Company believes that analyzing trends in revenue before reimbursements (“net revenue”) and analyzing operating
expenses as a percentage of net revenue more appropriately reflects the Company’s core operations.
 

9



Table of Contents

The revenue, operating income (loss), depreciation and amortization, and capital expenditures, by segment, are as follows:
 

   

Three Months Ended
September 30,

  

Nine Months Ended
September 30,

 

   

2004

  

2003

  

2004

  

2003

 
Revenue:                  

North America   $49,947  $42,786  $149,567  $129,332 
Latin America    3,569   3,299   9,239   8,235 
Europe    29,965   25,855   94,544   82,293 
Asia Pacific    8,126   5,001   23,412   16,066 

      
Revenue before reimbursements (net revenue)    91,607   76,941   276,762   235,926 

Reimbursements    4,750   5,531   14,903   17,417 
      

Total   $96,357  $82,472  $291,665  $253,343 

      
Operating income (loss):                  

North America   $10,790  $11,987  $ 31,532  $ 28,029 
Latin America    450   598   498   578 
Europe    1,139   (2,158)  2,501   (3,542)
Asia Pacific    1,609   384   5,008   1,913 

      
Total regions    13,988   10,811   39,539   26,978 

Corporate    (5,792)  (6,099)  (17,627)  (23,308)
Restructuring charges    —     (1,413)  —     (6,913)

      
Total   $ 8,196  $ 3,299  $ 21,912  $ (3,243)

      
Depreciation and amortization:                  

North America   $ 1,432  $ 1,288  $ 4,225  $ 4,154 
Latin America    104   69   288   264 
Europe    1,049   1,452   3,256   4,482 
Asia Pacific    183   195   565   577 

      
Total regions    2,768   3,004   8,334   9,477 

Corporate    495   290   1,368   916 
      

Total   $ 3,263  $ 3,294  $ 9,702  $ 10,393 

      
Capital expenditures:                  

North America   $ 536  $ 505  $ 1,682  $ 1,602 
Latin America    44   41   183   140 
Europe    8   319   1,078   1,126 
Asia Pacific    80   304   277   775 

      
Total regions    668   1,169   3,220   3,643 

Corporate    212   157   728   588 
      

Total   $ 880  $ 1,326  $ 3,948  $ 4,231 
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The identifiable assets, and goodwill and other intangible assets, by segment, are as follows:
 

   

September 30,
2004

  

December 31,
2003

Identifiable assets:         
North America   $ 63,552  $ 60,457
Latin America    6,560   5,390
Europe    130,658   141,080
Asia Pacific    27,319   21,837

     
Total regions    228,089   228,764

Corporate    246,695   75,268
     

Total   $ 474,784  $ 304,032

     
Goodwill and other intangible assets, net:         

North America   $ 21,656  $ 22,099
Latin America    —     —  
Europe    32,498   32,735
Asia Pacific    1,577   1,564

     
Total   $ 55,731  $ 56,398

     
 
6. Restructuring Charges
 In 2001, the Company began the restructuring of its business to better align costs with expected net revenue levels. During 2001, 2002 and 2003 the
Company recorded restructuring charges of $53.2 million, $48.5 million and $29.4 million, respectively.
 

Included in these restructuring charges are $6.9 million, recorded in the first nine months of 2003, to increase previously established accruals for office
space reflecting the expectation of longer vacancy periods due in part to weakness in the real estate markets in which leased properties are located. By segment,
the restructuring charges recorded in the first nine months of 2003 are as follows: North America $1.8 million and Europe $5.1 million.
 

The table below outlines the restructuring-related accruals at September 30, 2004 and December 31, 2003, and the cash payments for the nine months
ended September 30, 2004:
 

   

Severance
And Other
Employee-

Related
Costs

  

Office
Consolidations

  

Total

 
Accrual balance at December 31, 2003   $ 6,443  $ 39,345  $ 45,788 

Cash payments    (3,731)  (9,127)  (12,858)
     
Accrual balance at September 30, 2004   $ 2,712  $ 30,218  $ 32,930 
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7. Income Taxes
 During the three months ended September 30, 2003, the Company had pre-tax income of $4.0 million and recorded an income tax provision of $2.9
million. The effective tax rate for the three months ended September 30, 2003 was 73.5%. The effective tax rate far exceeded the statutory rate due to the fact that
the Company did not record an income tax benefit on the losses of certain non-U.S. operations.
 

During the nine months ended September 30, 2003, the Company had a pre-tax loss of $2.6 million and recorded an income tax provision of $5.7 million.
The income tax provision recorded in the first nine months of 2003 includes an expense of $4.3 million to reduce certain deferred tax assets, related to the excess
of expense for accounting purposes over the related deduction for tax purposes, required to be recorded upon the vesting of restricted stock units in the first half
of 2003. Excluding the tax expense related to the reduction of deferred tax assets, the tax provision for the nine months ended September 30, 2003 was $1.4
million, primarily related to income tax expense for certain non-U.S. operations. A tax provision was recorded despite the existence of a loss before income taxes
as a result of the Company not recording an income tax benefit on the losses of certain non-U.S. operations.
 

In the fourth quarter of 2003, the Company recorded a full valuation allowance against the net deferred tax assets for the U.S. and certain foreign
operations that comprise the U.S. income tax entity. At that time, the Company anticipated that it would generate a loss for U.S. income tax purposes, due
primarily to the timing of tax deductions related to restructuring charges recorded in prior years, and therefore did not anticipate recording or paying any U.S.
federal income tax in 2004. These tax estimates excluded the affects of any warrant monetizations due to the uncertainty of the amount and timing of such
transactions.
 

As a result of a significant warrant monetization in the third quarter of 2004, the Company now expects that it will generate income in 2004 for U.S.
income tax purposes. Accordingly, the Company determined that a lesser valuation allowance is required relating to net deferred tax assets associated with tax
deductions that will be available for carryback to recover taxes paid in the current year and recorded a $7.0 million reduction to the income tax expense and the
valuation allowance.
 

For the three and nine months ended September 30, 2004, the effective tax rate was 5.0% and 8.7%, respectively, which is lower than the statutory rate,
primarily as a result of the partial reduction of the previously recorded valuation allowance relating to net deferred tax assets associated with tax deductions that
will be available for carryback to recover taxes paid in the current year and the utilization of net operating loss and capital loss carryforwards.
 
8. Significant Warrant Monetization
 In 2001, the Company received warrants to purchase 1,194,308 shares of Class B common stock of Google Inc. (“Google”) at a price of $0.30 per share
issued in connection with recruitment fees. On August 19, 2004, the Company exercised the warrants pursuant to their cashless exercise feature and received
1,190,092 shares of Google common stock.
 

In multiple transactions on September 13, 2004 and September 14, 2004, the Company sold all the shares of common stock of Google that it held in
ordinary brokerage transactions at an average price of $108.22 less expenses associated with the transactions resulting in aggregate net proceeds of approximately
$128.8 million.
 

Pursuant to the terms of the Company’s compensation policy with respect to warrants, 55% of the net proceeds from these sales of shares of common stock
of Google is payable to our consultants involved with the search in the month following the monetization. The Company’s current Chief Executive Officer,
Thomas J Friel, was a member of this search team and will receive 25% of the consultants’ team share. Mr. Friel’s share is solely related to his work as a search
consultant in 2001, at which time he was not the Company’s Chief Executive Officer. Mr. Friel has elected to defer receipt of his share of the net proceeds under
an existing deferred compensation plan. The remaining 75% of the consultants’ team share of the net proceeds, approximately $53.1 million, was paid in October
2004.
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9. Realized and Unrealized Gains (Losses) on Equity and Warrant Portfolio
 The realized and unrealized gains (losses), net of consultants’ share of the gains (losses) and other costs, arising from the equity and warrant portfolio are as
follows:
 

   

Three Months Ended
September 30,

  

Nine Months Ended
September 30,

 

   

2004

  

2003

  

2004

  

2003

 
Realized gains on investments   $ 56,930  $ 74  $ 57,009  $ 605 
Unrealized gains (losses) on derivative instruments    (485)  125   (42)  (158)
       

Realized and unrealized gains on equity and warrant portfolio, net of
the consultants’ share of the gains   $ 56,445  $ 199  $ 56,967  $ 447 

       
 

During the three months ended September 30, 2004, the Company recognized a realized gain of $56.9 million, net of the consultants’ share of the gain and
other costs, including $56.8 million related to the monetization of its shares of common stock of Google.
 
10. Comprehensive Income (Loss)
 The components of comprehensive income (loss) are as follows:
 

   

Three Months Ended
September 30,

  

Nine Months Ended
September 30,

 

   

2004

  

2003

  

2004

  

2003

 
Net income (loss)   $ 62,149  $ 1,052  $73,300  $(8,294)
Change in foreign currency translation adjustments    661   1,062   (764)  5,091 
Change in unrealized gain on available-for-sale investment, net of tax in

2003    (2)  (14)  3   (42)
      
Comprehensive income (loss)   $ 62,808  $ 2,100  $72,539  $(3,245)

      
 
11. Guarantees
 The Company has issued a letter of credit and guarantees on the payment of lease commitments for office space for certain subsidiaries in Europe and Asia
Pacific. The guarantees were made to secure the respective lease agreements. The guarantees are for the term of the lease agreements, which extend through 2009.
For each guarantee issued, if the subsidiary defaults on a lease payment, the Company would have to perform under the guarantee. The maximum amount of
undiscounted payments the Company would be required to make in the event of default on all outstanding letters of credit and guarantees is approximately $8.4
million as of September 30, 2004. No amount has been accrued for the Company’s obligation under these guaranty arrangements.
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12. Components of Net Periodic Benefit Cost
 The Company maintains a pension plan for certain employees in Germany. The pensions are individually fixed euro amounts depending on the function
and the eligible years of service of the employee. The components of net periodic benefit cost are as follows:
 

   

Three Months Ended
September 30,

  

Nine Months Ended
September 30,

   

2004

  

2003

  

2004

  

2003

Service cost   $ 95  $ 165  $ 287  $ 488
Interest cost    304   316   917   935
Amortization of net gain    (50)   —     (149)  —  
       

Net periodic benefit cost   $ 349  $ 481  $ 1,055  $ 1,423

       
 
13. Recently Issued Financial Accounting Standards
 In May 2003, the FASB issued SFAS No. 150, “Accounting for Certain Financial Instruments with Characteristics of both Liabilities and Equity.” This
Statement establishes standards for the classification and measurement of certain financial instruments with characteristics of both liabilities and equity. The
Statement also includes required disclosures for financial instruments within its scope. The Statement was effective for instruments entered into or modified after
May 31, 2003 and otherwise was effective as of January 1, 2004, except for mandatorily redeemable financial instruments. For certain mandatorily redeemable
financial instruments, the Statement will be effective on January 1, 2005. The effective date has been deferred indefinitely for certain other types of mandatorily
redeemable financial instruments. The Company currently does not have any financial instruments that are within the scope of this Statement.
 

In December 2003, the FASB revised SFAS No. 132, “Employers’ Disclosures about Pensions and Other Postretirement Benefits.” The disclosure
requirements of SFAS 132 were revised to require more complete information in both annual and interim financial statements about pension and postretirement
benefits as well as to increase the transparency of the financial reporting related to those plans and benefits. Except as noted, the revised disclosure requirements
are effective for financial statements with fiscal years ending after December 15, 2003. The interim-period disclosures relating to net periodic benefit cost
required by the revised Statement are effective for interim periods beginning after December 15, 2003. The Company adopted the interim-period disclosure
requirements of SFAS 132 related to net periodic benefit cost on January 1, 2004. The additional disclosure of information about employer contributions related
to foreign plans required by the revised statement is effective for fiscal years ending after June 15, 2004 and interim periods beginning with the first quarter of
2005. The adoption of these revisions of SFAS No. 132 impacted the disclosures related to the Company’s foreign pension plan in 2004 and will further impact
the disclosures in 2005, and is not expected to have a material impact on the Company’s financial condition or results of operations.
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ITEM 2. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
 This Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations as well as other sections of this quarterly report on Form
10-Q contain forward-looking statements. The Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 provides a safe harbor for forward-looking statements. The
forward-looking statements are based on current expectations, estimates, forecasts and projections about the industry in which we operate, and management’s
beliefs and assumptions. Forward-looking statements may be identified by the use of words such as “expects,” “anticipates,” “intends,” “plans,” “believes,”
“seeks,” “estimates,” and similar expressions. Forward-looking statements are not guarantees of future performance and involve certain known and unknown
risks, uncertainties and assumptions that are difficult to predict. Actual outcomes and results may differ materially from what is expressed, forecasted or implied
in the forward-looking statements. Factors that may affect the outcome of the forward-looking statements include, among other things, our ability to attract and
retain qualified executive search consultants; the condition of the economies in the United States, Europe, or elsewhere; social or political instability in markets
in which we operate; price competition; our ability to achieve the planned cost savings from our cost reduction initiatives; our ability to sublease or assign
unused office space; our ability to realize our tax loss carryforwards; the mix of profit or loss by country; an impairment of our goodwill and other intangible
assets; and delays in the development and/or implementation of new technology and systems. Our reports filed with the U. S. Securities and Exchange
Commission (in particular, our Annual Report to Shareholders on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2003 under Risk Factors in Item 1) also include
information on factors that may affect the outcome of forward-looking statements. We undertake no obligation to update publicly any forward-looking statements,
whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise.
 
Executive Overview
 Our Business
 We are a premier provider of executive search and leadership consulting services. We help our clients build leadership teams by facilitating the recruitment,
assessment and development of personnel for their executive management positions. In addition to executive search for permanent and interim placements, we
provide other leadership services, including executive assessment, and, through an alliance, executive coaching.
 
Our Compensation Model
 Our compensation model closely aligns the interests of our consultants, our Company and our shareholders. Consultants are rewarded for individual
performance based on a system which directly ties compensation to the amount of net revenue for which the consultant is responsible. Actual compensation is
adjusted, up or down, based on the Company’s performance against profitability targets approved by the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors.
Each quarter, we evaluate the expected annual performance of both the consultants and the Company. As annualized performance estimates are revised each
quarter, compensation accruals are adjusted in each region. As a result, the discretionary portion of compensation expense may fluctuate significantly from
quarter to quarter.
 
Historical Perspective
 During 1999 and 2000, the executive search industry experienced a dramatic increase in demand for its services in virtually all markets based on increased
competition for executive talent, the need for executives with diverse and global leadership skills, and the proliferation of Internet and e-commerce businesses.
Our rate of growth in net revenue during this period exceeded both the industry trend and our historical average because of the need for management at start-up
companies, the creation of new e-commerce positions at more established companies and the growth in the financial services industry.
 

The slowdown in the United States economy that began early in 2001, especially in the financial services and technology sectors, followed by a slowdown
in other geographic markets, created an environment where the
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previous trends began to reverse. Commencing in June 2001, when we anticipated a decrease in net revenue compared to 2000, we took steps to reduce our cost
base by reducing our workforce while retaining capacity to meet additional demand when the economy recovered. In October 2001, we announced further
reductions in our workforce and consolidated or eliminated office space. The initiatives related to these announcements were completed during the 2002 first
quarter.
 

In 2002, the worldwide economies, and the demand for executive search services, continued to weaken. Even after taking into account the workforce
reductions and office consolidations and closings that occurred since June 2001, at the then-current and anticipated net revenue levels, we determined that we had
substantial excess search team capacity. In addition, the cost structure in Europe continued to be too high for its net revenue level. As a result, in October 2002,
we announced further reductions in our workforce and additional office consolidations and closings.
 

In 2003, continued global economic weakness and geopolitical tensions adversely impacted the business environment and, consequently, the demand for
our services. As a result, we announced further reductions in our workforce, primarily in Europe. In addition, we increased previously established accruals for
unused office space, reflecting the expectation of longer vacancy periods due in part to weakness in the real estate markets in which leased properties are located.
 
2004 Outlook
 For 2004, we currently anticipate that net revenue will grow at a rate in the mid teens. This performance assumes that the worldwide economy will continue
to strengthen. At that level of net revenue growth, we would expect to generate an operating margin of approximately 7%.
 
Results of Operations
 We operate our executive search and complementary leadership services in four geographic regions: North America, which includes the United States
(except Miami) and Canada; Latin America, which includes Mexico and the rest of Latin America, as well as Miami, which serves as our gateway office to the
region; Europe; and Asia Pacific.
 

Total revenue consists of revenue before reimbursements of out-of-pocket expenses (“net revenue”) and reimbursements of out-of-pocket expenses. Net
revenue consists primarily of retainers and indirect expenses billed to clients. For segment purposes, the reimbursements of out-of-pocket expenses are reported
separately and therefore do not affect the analysis of net revenue by geographic region. Related reimbursed expenses are shown separately within operating
expenses. The presentation of reimbursements of out-of-pocket expenses has no impact on the consolidated operating income (loss) or on the operating income
(loss) of the geographic regions. We believe that analyzing trends in net revenue and analyzing operating expenses as a percentage of net revenue more
appropriately reflects our core operations.
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The following table summarizes, for the periods indicated, the results of our operations as a percentage of revenue before reimbursements (net revenue):
 

   

Three Months Ended
September 30,

  

Nine Months Ended
September 30,

 

   

2004

  

2003

  

2004

  

2003

 
Revenue:              

Revenue before reimbursements (net revenue)   100.0 %  100.0 % 100.0 % 100.0 %
Reimbursements   5.2  7.2  5.4  7.4 

      
Total revenue   105.2  107.2  105.4  107.4 

      
Operating expenses:              

Salaries and employee benefits   65.9  66.5  67.9  71.3 
General and administrative expenses   25.1  27.4  24.1  27.1 
Reimbursements   5.2  7.2  5.4  7.4 
Restructuring charges   —    1.8  —    2.9 

      
Total operating expenses   96.2  102.9  97.5  108.8 

      
Operating income (loss)   8.9  4.3  7.9  (1.4)
      
Non-operating income (expense):              

Interest income   0.7  0.5  0.5  0.6 
Interest expense   —    —    —    —   
Realized and unrealized gains on equity and warrant portfolio, net of the consultants’ share of the gains   61.6  0.3  20.6  0.2 
Other, net   0.2  0.1  —    (0.4)

      
Net non-operating income   62.5  0.9  21.1  0.3 

      
Income (loss) before income taxes   71.4  5.2  29.0  (1.1)

Provision for income taxes   3.6  3.8  2.5  2.4 
      
Net income (loss)   67.8%  1.4% 26.5% (3.5)%

      

Note: Totals and sub-totals may not equal the sum of individual line items due to rounding.
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The following table sets forth, for the periods indicated, our revenue and operating income (loss) by segment (in thousands):
 

   

Three Months Ended
September 30,

  

Nine Months Ended
September 30,

 

   

2004

  

2003

  

2004

  

2003

 
Revenue:                  

North America   $49,947  $42,786  $149,567  $129,332 
Latin America    3,569   3,299   9,239   8,235 
Europe    29,965   25,855   94,544   82,293 
Asia Pacific    8,126   5,001   23,412   16,066 

      
Revenue before reimbursements (net revenue)    91,607   76,941   276,762   235,926 

Reimbursements    4,750   5,531   14,903   17,417 
      

Total   $96,357  $82,472  $291,665  $253,343 

      
Operating income (loss):                  

North America   $10,790  $11,987  $ 31,532  $ 28,029 
Latin America    450   598   498   578 
Europe    1,139   (2,158)  2,501   (3,542)
Asia Pacific    1,609   384   5,008   1,913 

      
Total regions    13,988   10,811   39,539   26,978 

Corporate    (5,792)  (6,099)  (17,627)  (23,308)
Restructuring charges    —     (1,413)  —     (6,913)

      
Total   $ 8,196  $ 3,299  $ 21,912  $ (3,243)

      
 
Three Months Ended September 30, 2004 Compared to the Three Months Ended September 30, 2003
 Total revenue. Consolidated total revenue increased $13.9 million, or 16.8%, to $96.4 million for the three months ended September 30, 2004 from $82.5
million for the three months ended September 30, 2003. The increase in total revenue was due primarily to the increase in revenue before reimbursements (net
revenue).
 

Revenue before reimbursements (net revenue). Consolidated net revenue increased $14.7 million, or 19.1%, to $91.6 million for the three months ended
September 30, 2004 from $76.9 million for the three months ended September 30, 2003. All of our industry practices experienced increases in net revenue, with
the exception of the Higher Education practice. Excluding a positive impact of $2.7 million due to exchange rate fluctuations, net revenue increased
approximately 16%. We believe this increase reflects the impact of the continuing economic improvement in the global economy. The number of confirmed
executive searches increased 14% compared to the third quarter of 2003.
 

Net revenue in North America was $49.9 million for the three months ended September 30, 2004, an increase of $7.1 million, or 16.7%, from $42.8 million
in the third quarter of 2003. Increases in the Financial Services, Consumer, Health Care, Industrial and Technology practices’ net revenue more than offset
weakness in the remaining practices. In Latin America, net revenue was $3.6 million for the three months ended September 30, 2004, an increase of $0.3 million,
or 8.2%, from $3.3 million in the third quarter of 2003. The increase in the Professional Services, Technology, Higher Education and Health Care practices’ net
revenue was partially offset by declines across the other practices. Exchange rate fluctuations did not impact net revenue in Latin America in the 2004 third
quarter. Net revenue in Europe was $30.0 million for the three months ended September 30, 2004, an increase of $4.1 million, or 15.9%, from $25.9 million in the
third quarter of 2003. Most of the practices experienced increases in net revenue, with the exception of the Technology and Higher Education practices.
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Excluding a positive impact of $2.5 million due to exchange rate fluctuations, Europe’s net revenue increased by approximately 6% from the comparable quarter
of 2003. In Asia Pacific, net revenue was $8.1 million for the three months ended September 30, 2004, an increase of $3.1 million, or 62.5%, from $5.0 million in
the third quarter of 2003. All of the practices experienced significant increases in net revenue with the exception of the Health Care and Higher Education
practices. Excluding a positive impact of $0.2 million due to exchange rate fluctuations, Asia Pacific’s net revenue increased approximately 58% compared to the
same quarter in 2003.
 

Salaries and employee benefits. Consolidated salaries and employee benefits expense increased $9.3 million, or 18.0%, to $60.4 million for the three
months ended September 30, 2004 from $51.1 million for the three months ended September 30, 2003. The increase was primarily attributable to $8.2 million of
additional performance-related compensation expense for executive search consultants and support staff and an increase of $1.1 million in fixed salaries and
employee benefits. Performance-related compensation accruals have been adjusted in each region based upon expected annual performance and in accordance
with our compensation model. Excluding a negative impact of $2.1 million due to exchange rate fluctuations, consolidated salaries and employee benefits
expense increased approximately 14% compared to the same quarter in 2003.
 

As a percentage of net revenue, salaries and employee benefits expense was 65.9% in the third quarter of 2004, compared to 66.5% in the third quarter of
2003.
 

General and administrative expenses. Consolidated general and administrative expenses increased $1.9 million, or 9.3%, to $23.0 million for the three
months ended September 30, 2004 from $21.1 million for the three months ended September 30, 2003. This increase was due to $1.6 million of higher
discretionary spending and an increase of $0.3 million in bad debt expense. Excluding a negative impact of $0.7 million due to exchange rate fluctuations,
consolidated general and administrative expenses increased approximately 6% compared to the same quarter in 2003.
 

As a percentage of net revenue, general and administrative expenses decreased to 25.1% in the third quarter of 2004 from 27.4% in the third quarter of
2003.
 

Restructuring charges. In the third quarter of 2003, we recorded a restructuring charge of $1.4 million in North America to increase accruals for leased
properties that had been identified as excess in previous office consolidation charges. The accruals were increased to reflect the expectation of longer vacancy
periods due in part to weakness in the real estate markets in which leased properties are located.
 

Operating income. Our consolidated operating income was $8.2 million for the three months ended September 30, 2004 compared to $3.3 million for the
three months ended September 30, 2003. The improvement in operating income of $4.9 million was due to the increase in net revenue of $14.7 million offset by
increases in salaries and employee benefits expense of $9.3 million and general and administrative expenses of $1.9 million. The third quarter of 2003 included
restructuring charges of $1.4 million while no restructuring charges were recorded in the third quarter of 2004.
 

In North America, operating income for the three months ended September 30, 2004 decreased $1.2 million to $10.8 million from $12.0 million for the
three months ended September 30, 2003. The increase of $7.1 million in North America’s net revenue and lower fixed salaries and employee benefits expense of
$0.6 million were offset by $6.8 million of additional performance-related compensation expense, and increases of $0.1 million in bad debt expense and $2.0
million of additional general and administrative expenses. Performance-related compensation expense was unusually low in the third quarter of 2003 as a result of
adjusting performance-related compensation accruals to reflect expected annual performance levels that were lower than previously anticipated.
 

In Latin America, operating income for the three months ended September 30, 2004 was $0.5 million, a decrease of $0.1 million, compared to $0.6 million
for the three months ended September 30, 2003. The increase in net revenue of $0.3 million was offset by higher salary and employee benefits expense.
 

In Europe, operating income for the three months ended September 30, 2004 increased $3.3 million to $1.1 million compared to an operating loss of $2.2
million for the three months ended September 30, 2003. The increase in net revenue of $4.1 million and $0.3 million of lower general and administrative
expenses more than offset an increase of $1.1 million of salaries and employee benefits expense.
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In Asia Pacific, operating income for the three months ended September 30, 2004 was $1.6 million, an increase of $1.2 million, compared to $0.4 million
for the three months ended September 30, 2003. The increase in net revenue of $3.1 million was partially offset by an increase of $1.7 million in salaries and
employee benefits expense and an increase of $0.2 million of general and administrative expenses.
 

We have become aware that we do not hold a license required to conduct certain executive search activity in Japan. As a result, in September, we ceased
engaging in executive search work, although we arranged for a licensed firm to service our clients on searches that were ongoing at the time. We are currently
working with the relevant governmental authorities to obtain the required license. We cannot be certain when, or if, this license will be obtained or what the
ultimate impact may be on our business. During the third quarter of 2004, the impact on net revenue was less the $0.3 million, or 4% of net revenue in the Asia
Pacific region, as a result of ceasing executive search work in Japan. Historically, Japan has comprised approximately 2% of consolidated net revenue (or 20% of
net revenue of the Asia Pacific region).
 

Unallocated corporate expenses for the three months ended September 30, 2004 were $5.8 million, a decrease of $0.3 million, compared to unallocated
corporate expenses of $6.1 million for the three months ended September 30, 2003. Salaries and employee benefits expense decreased by $0.1 million and general
and administrative expenses decreased by $0.2 million.
 

Non-operating income (expense). The following table presents the components of our net non-operating income (expense) for the three months ended
September 30, 2004 and 2003, respectively (in millions):
 

   

Three Months Ended
September 30,

    
Non-operating income (expense):

  

2004

  

2003

  

Change

 
Interest income   $ 0.7  $ 0.4  $ 0.3 
Interest expense    —     —     —   
Realized and unrealized gains (losses) on equity and warrant portfolio net of the

consultants’ share of the gains (losses):              
Realized gains on investments    56.9   0.1   56.8 
Unrealized gains (losses) on derivative instruments    (0.5)   0.1   (0.6)

      
Net realized and unrealized gains    56.4   0.2   56.2 

Other, net    0.2   0.1   —   
      

Net non-operating income   $ 57.3  $ 0.7  $ 56.6 

      

Note: Totals and sub-totals may not equal the sum of individual line items due to rounding.
 

Interest income in the third quarter of 2004 increased $0.3 million to $0.7 million due to higher average cash balances.
 

We receive warrants for equity securities in client companies, in addition to the cash fee, for services rendered on some searches. Some of the warrants
meet the definition of a derivative instrument under SFAS No. 133, “Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities,” and its subsequent
amendments. SFAS No. 133 establishes accounting and reporting standards requiring that every derivative instrument be recorded in the balance sheet as either an
asset or liability measured at its fair value. These derivative instruments are initially recorded at their fair value, using the Black Scholes model, in the
Consolidated Balance Sheet, with a corresponding amount recorded as net revenue in the Consolidated Statement of Operations. Compensation expense related to
this
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net revenue is also recorded. Subsequent changes in the fair value of these derivative instruments are recorded in the Consolidated Statement of Operations as
unrealized gains (losses), net of the consultants’ share of the gains (losses).
 

Other warrants received and which do not meet the definition of a derivative instrument under SFAS No. 133 are initially recorded at their fair value, using
the Black Scholes model, in the Consolidated Balance Sheet, with a corresponding amount recorded as net revenue in the Consolidated Statement of Operations.
Compensation expense related to this net revenue is also recorded. These warrants are accounted for using the cost method, and subsequent changes in fair value
are not recognized. However, these warrants are regularly reviewed for other-than-temporary declines in fair value. Any declines in the fair value of these
warrants are recorded in the Consolidated Statement of Operations as unrealized losses, net of the consultants’ share of the losses.
 

Upon a value event such as an initial public offering or an acquisition, any changes in the fair value of the warrants, both derivatives and non-derivatives,
are recorded in the Consolidated Statement of Operations as unrealized gains (losses), net of the consultants’ share of the gains (losses).
 

Any equity securities arising from the exercise of a warrant are accounted for as available-for-sale investments in accordance with SFAS No. 115,
“Accounting for Certain Investments in Debt and Equity Securities.” Subsequent changes in the fair value of these available-for-sale investments are recorded as
a component of accumulated other comprehensive income. Upon the sale of these investments, the Company records a realized gain (loss), net of the consultants’
share of the gain (loss) and other costs.
 

In 2001, we received warrants to purchase 1,194,308 shares of Class B common stock of Google Inc. (“Google”) at a price of $0.30 per share issued in
connection with recruitment fees. On August 19, 2004, we exercised the warrants pursuant to their cashless exercise feature and received 1,190,092 shares of
Google common stock.
 

In multiple transactions on September 13, 2004 and September 14, 2004, we sold all the shares of common stock of Google that we held in ordinary
brokerage transactions at an average price of $108.22 less expenses associated with the transaction resulting in aggregate net proceeds of approximately $128.8
million.
 

During the three months ended September 30, 2004, we recognized a realized gain of $56.9 million, net of the consultants’ share of the gain and other
costs, including $56.8 million related to the monetization of our shares of common stock of Google. In addition, during the three months ended September 30,
2004, we recognized $0.5 million of unrealized losses, net of the consultants’ share of the losses and other costs, related to our equity and warrant portfolio.
During the three months ended September 30, 2003, we recognized $0.1 million of realized gains and $0.1 million of unrealized gains, net of the consultants’
share of the gains and other costs, related to our equity and warrant portfolio.
 

Net other non-operating income was $0.2 million for the three months ended September 30, 2004, compared to $0.1 million for the three months ended
September 30, 2003. Other non-operating income consists primarily of exchange gains and losses on intercompany balances which are denominated in currencies
other than the functional currency and are not considered permanent in nature.
 

Income taxes. During the three months ended September 30, 2003, we had pre-tax income of $4.0 million and recorded an income tax provision of $2.9
million. The effective tax rate for the three months ended September 30, 2003 was 73.5%. The effective tax rate far exceeded the statutory due to the fact that we
did not record an income tax benefit on the losses of certain non-U.S. operations.
 

In the fourth quarter of 2003, we recorded a full valuation allowance against the net deferred tax assets for the U.S. and certain foreign operations that
comprise the U.S. income tax entity. At that time, we anticipated that we would generate a loss for U.S. income tax purposes, due primarily to the timing of tax
deductions related to restructuring charges recorded in prior years, and therefore did not anticipate recording or paying any U.S. federal income tax in 2004.
These tax estimates excluded the affects of any warrant monetizations due to the uncertainty of the amount and timing of such transactions.
 

21



Table of Contents

As a result of a significant warrant monetization in the third quarter of 2004, we now expect that we will generate income in 2004 for U.S. income tax
purposes. Accordingly, we determined that a lesser valuation allowance is required related to net deferred tax assets associated with tax deductions that will be
available for carryback to recover taxes paid in the current year and recorded a $7.0 million reduction to the income tax expense and the valuation allowance.
 

For the three months ended September 30, 2004, the effective tax rate was 5.0%, which is lower than the statutory rate, primarily as a result of the partial
reduction of the previously recorded valuation allowance relating to net deferred tax assets associated with tax deductions that will be available for carryback to
recover taxes paid in the current year and the utilization of net operating loss and capital loss carryforwards.
 
Nine Months Ended September 30, 2004 Compared to the Nine Months Ended September 30, 2003
 Total revenue. Consolidated total revenue increased $38.4 million, or 15.1%, to $291.7 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2004 from $253.3
million for the nine months ended September 30, 2003. The increase in total revenue was due primarily to the increase in revenue before reimbursements (net
revenue).
 

Revenue before reimbursements (net revenue). Consolidated net revenue increased $40.9 million, or 17.3%, to $276.8 million for the nine months ended
September 30, 2004 from $235.9 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2003. Increases in the Financial Services, Consumer, Technology, Professional
Services and Health Care practices’ net revenue offset decreases in the remaining practices. Excluding a positive impact of $10.6 million due to exchange rate
fluctuations, net revenue increased approximately 13%. We believe this increase reflects the impact of the continuing economic improvement in the global
economy. The number of confirmed executive searches increased 8% compared to the same period of 2003.
 

Net revenue in North America was $149.6 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2004, an increase of $20.3 million, or 15.6%, from $129.3
million for the nine months ended September 30, 2003. Increases in the Financial Services, Industrial, Consumer, Technology and Health Care practices’ net
revenue more than offset weakness in the remaining practices. In Latin America, net revenue was $9.2 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2004, an
increase of $1.0 million, or 12.2%, from $8.2 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2003. The increase in Financial Services, Professional Services,
Technology, Higher Education and Health Care practices’ net revenue was partially offset by declines across the other practices. Excluding a positive impact of
$0.1 million due to exchange rate fluctuations, Latin America’s net revenue increased by approximately 11% from the comparable period in 2003. Net revenue in
Europe was $94.5 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2004, an increase of $12.2 million, or 14.9%, from $82.3 million for the nine months ended
September 30, 2003. All of the practices experienced increases in net revenue with the exception of the Industrial and Technology practices which experienced
modest declines. Excluding a positive impact of $9.1 million due to exchange rate fluctuations, Europe’s net revenue increased by approximately 4% from the
comparable period in 2003. In Asia Pacific, net revenue was $23.4 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2004, an increase of $7.3 million, or 45.7%,
from $16.1 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2003. All of the practices experienced increases in net revenue with the exception of the Higher
Education practice which experienced a decline and the Consumer practice that was essentially even with last year. Excluding a positive impact of $1.3 million
due to exchange rate fluctuations, Asia Pacific’s net revenue increased approximately 37% compared to the same period of 2003.
 

Salaries and employee benefits. Consolidated salaries and employee benefits expense increased $19.8 million, or 11.8%, to $188.0 million for the nine
months ended September 30, 2004 from $168.2 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2003. Salary and employee benefits expense for the nine months
ended September 30, 2003 includes $5.2 million of expense related to the separation agreements for the former CEO and the former President and COO, as well
as approximately $2.8 million of severance-related expenses, primarily in Europe and North America offset by a $0.9 million reduction in employee benefit
expense accruals. Excluding these expenses, which we believe more appropriately reflects our core operations, consolidated salaries and employee benefits
expense increased $26.9 million, or 16.7%. Performance-related compensation increased $26.8 million as a result
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of higher net revenue levels and improved profitability. Performance-related compensation accruals have been adjusted in each region based upon expected
annual performance and in accordance with our compensation model. Excluding a negative impact of $8.0 million due to exchange rate fluctuations, consolidated
salaries and employee benefits expense increased approximately 7% compared to the same period in 2003.
 

As a percentage of net revenue, salaries and employee benefits expense was 67.9% for the nine months ended September 30, 2004 compared to 71.3% for
the nine months ended September 30, 2003. Excluding the $8.0 million of severance-related expenses and the $0.9 million adjustment for employee benefit
accruals in 2003, which we believe more appropriately reflects our core operations, salaries and employee benefits expense as a percentage of net revenue was
68.3%, slightly higher than the nine months ended September 30, 2004.
 

General and administrative expenses. Consolidated general and administrative expenses increased $2.8 million, or 4.3%, to $66.8 million for the nine
months ended September 30, 2004 from $64.0 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2003. This increase was due to $1.9 million of additional
operating expenses associated with higher net revenue levels and the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, and an increase of $1.7 million in bad debt expense offset by $0.8
million of lower rent, depreciation, amortization and other infrastructure expense. Excluding a negative impact of $2.8 million due to exchange rate fluctuations,
consolidated general and administrative expenses were approximately even with the third quarter of 2003.
 

As a percentage of net revenue, general and administrative expenses decreased to 24.1% for the nine months ended September 30, 2004 from 27.1% for the
nine months ended September 30, 2003.
 

Restructuring charges. In the first nine months of 2003, we recorded restructuring charges of $6.9 million to increase accruals for leased properties that had
been identified as excess in previous office consolidation charges. The accruals were increased to reflect the expectation of longer vacancy periods due in part to
weakness in the real estate markets in which leased properties are located. By segment, North America recorded $1.8 million and Europe recorded $5.1 million.
No restructuring charges were recorded in the first nine months of 2004.
 

Operating income (loss). Our consolidated operating income was $21.9 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2004 compared to an operating
loss of $3.2 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2003. The improvement in operating income of $25.1 million was due to the increase in net revenue
of $40.9 million offset by increases in salaries and benefits of $19.8 million and general and administrative expenses of $2.8 million. The first nine months of
2003 included restructuring charges of $6.9 million while no restructuring charges were recorded in the first nine months of 2004.
 

In North America, operating income for the nine months ended September 30, 2004 increased $3.5 million to $31.5 million from $28.0 million for the nine
months ended September 30, 2003. The increase of $20.3 million in North America’s net revenue and lower fixed salaries and employee benefits expense of $4.9
million were offset by increases of $19.9 million of performance-related compensation expense, $0.8 million of bad debt expense and $1.0 million of operating
and facilities-related expenses.
 

In Latin America, operating income for the nine months ended September 30, 2004 was $0.5 million, compared to $0.6 million for the nine months ended
September 30, 2003. The increase in net revenue of $1.0 million was offset by higher salary and employee benefits expense.
 

In Europe, operating income for the nine months ended September 30, 2004 increased $6.0 million to $2.5 million compared to an operating loss of $3.5
million for the nine months ended September 30, 2003. The increase in net revenue of $12.2 million and lower discretionary spending of $1.1 million was offset
by an increase of $6.5 million of salaries and employee benefits expense and an increase in bad debt expense of $0.8 million. Excluding the severance-related
expenses, which we believe more appropriately reflects the Europe region’s core operations, the Europe region’s operating loss would have been $1.5 million for
the nine months ended September 30, 2003.
 

In Asia Pacific, operating income for the nine months ended September 30, 2004 was $5.0 million, an increase of $3.1 million, compared to $1.9 million
for the nine months ended September 30, 2003. The increase in net revenue of $7.3 million was partially offset by an increase of $3.6 million in salaries and
employee benefits expense and an increase of $0.6 million of general and administrative expenses.
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We have become aware that we do not hold a license required to conduct certain executive search activity in Japan. As a result, in September, we ceased
engaging in executive search work, although we arranged for a licensed firm to service our clients on searches that were ongoing at the time. We are currently
working with the relevant governmental authorities to obtain the required license. We cannot be certain when, or if, this license will be obtained or what the
ultimate impact may be on our business. Historically, Japan has comprised approximately 2% of consolidated net revenue (or 20% of net revenue of the Asia
Pacific region).
 

Unallocated corporate expenses for the nine months ended September 30, 2004 were $17.6 million, a decrease of $5.7 million, compared to unallocated
corporate expenses of $23.3 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2003. Corporate expenses for the nine months ended September 30, 2003 include
$5.2 million related to the separation agreements for the former CEO and the former President and COO, and $0.1 million of other severance-related expenses.
Excluding the severance-related expenses recorded for the nine months ended September 30, 2003, which we believe more appropriately reflects our core
operations, corporate expenses decreased $0.4 million.
 

Non-operating income (expense). The following table presents the components of our net non-operating income (expense) for the nine months ended
September 30, 2004 and 2003, respectively (in millions):
 

   

Nine Months Ended
September 30,

   
Non-operating income (expense):

  

2004

  

2003

  

Change

Interest income   $ 1.4  $ 1.3  $ —  
Interest expense    —     (0.1)  0.1
Realized and unrealized gains (losses) on equity and warrant portfolio net of the consultants’

share of the gains (losses):             
Realized gains on investments    57.0   0.6   56.4
Unrealized losses on derivative instruments    —     (0.2)  0.1

      
Net realized and unrealized gains (losses)    57.0   0.4   56.5

Other, net    0.1   (1.0)  1.1
      

Net non-operating income   $ 58.4  $ 0.7  $ 57.7

      

Note: Totals and sub-totals may not equal the sum of individual line items due to rounding.
 

During the nine months ended September 30, 2004, we recognized a realized gain of $57.0 million, net of the consultants’ share of the gain and other costs,
including $56.8 related to the monetization of our shares of common stock of Google. During the nine months ended September 30, 2003, we recognized $0.6
million of realized gains and $0.2 million of unrealized losses, net of the consultants’ share of the gains (losses) and other costs, related to our equity and warrant
portfolio.
 

Net other non-operating income was $0.1 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2004, compared to net other non-operating expense of $1.0
million for the nine months ended September 30, 2003. Other non-operating income (expense) consists primarily of exchange gains and losses on intercompany
balances which are denominated in currencies other than the functional currency and are not considered permanent in nature.
 

Income taxes. During the nine months ended September 30, 2003, we had a pre-tax loss of $2.6 million and recorded an income tax provision of $5.7
million. The income tax provision recorded in the first nine months of
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2003 includes an expense of $4.3 million to reduce certain deferred tax assets, related to the excess of expense for accounting purposes over the related deduction
for tax purposes, required to be recorded upon the vesting of restricted stock units in the first half of 2003. Excluding the tax expense related to the reduction of
deferred tax assets, the tax provision for the nine months ended September 30, 2003 was $1.4 million, primarily related to income tax expense for certain non-
U.S. operations. A tax provision was recorded despite the existence of a loss before income taxes as a result of not recording an income tax benefit on the losses
of certain non-U.S. operations.
 

In the fourth quarter of 2003, we recorded a full valuation allowance against the net deferred tax assets for the U.S. and certain foreign operations that
comprise the U.S. income tax entity. At that time, we anticipated that we would generate a loss for U.S. income tax purposes, due primarily to the timing of tax
deductions related to restructuring charges recorded in prior years, and therefore did not anticipate recording or paying any U.S. federal income tax in 2004.
These tax estimates excluded the affects of any warrant monetizations due to the uncertainty of the amount and timing of such transactions.
 

As a result of a significant warrant monetization in the third quarter of 2004, we now expect that we will generate income in 2004 for U.S. income tax
purposes. Accordingly, we determined that a lesser valuation allowance is required relating to net deferred tax assets associated with tax deductions that will be
available for carryback to recover taxes paid in the current year and recorded a $7.0 million reduction to the income tax expense and the valuation allowance.
 

For the nine months ended September 30, 2004, the effective tax rate was 8.7%, which is lower than the statutory rate, primarily as a result of the partial
reduction of the previously recorded valuation allowance relating to net deferred tax assets associated with tax deductions that will be available for carryback to
recover taxes paid in the current year and the utilization of net operating loss and capital loss carryforwards.
 
Liquidity and Capital Resources
 General. We continually evaluate our liquidity requirements, capital needs and availability of capital resources based on our operating needs. We believe
that our existing cash balances together with the funds expected to be generated from operations and funds available under our committed line of credit will be
sufficient to finance our operations for the foreseeable future, as well as to finance the cash payments associated with our restructuring charges. We historically
have paid a portion of our bonuses in December and the remainder in March. Employee bonuses are accrued throughout the year and are based on our
performance and the performance of the individual employee. Our ability to undertake acquisitions may depend, in part, on access to additional funds.
 

In 2001, we received warrants to purchase 1,194,308 shares of Google Inc. (“Google”) at a price of $0.30 per share issued in connection with recruitment
fees. On August 19, 2004, we exercised the warrants pursuant to their cashless exercise feature and received 1,190,092 shares of Google common stock.
 

In multiple transactions on September 13, 2004 and September 14, 2004, we sold all the shares of common stock of Google that we held in ordinary
brokerage transactions at an average price of $108.22 less expenses associated with the transaction resulting in aggregate net proceeds of approximately $128.8
million.
 

Pursuant to the terms of our compensation policy with respect to warrants, 55% of the net proceeds from these sales of shares of common stock of Google
is payable to our consultants involved with the search in the month following the monetization. Our current Chief Executive Officer, Thomas J. Friel, was a
member of this search team and will receive 25% of the consultants’ team share. Mr. Friel has elected to defer receipt of his share of the net proceeds under an
existing deferred compensation plan. The remaining 75% of the consultants’ team share of the net proceeds, approximately $53.1 million, was paid in October
2004.
 

We do not have material off-balance sheet arrangements, special purpose entities, trading activities of non-exchange traded contracts or transactions with
related parties.
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Some deferred compensation arrangements with certain employees, which were executed prior to July 30, 2002, are structured as forgivable loans. The
forgivable loans are accounted for as deferred compensation, and are therefore amortized to compensation expense over the forgiveness period. At September 30,
2004, we had $0.4 million of deferred compensation structured as forgivable loans, none of which were with any executive officer of the Company.
 

Lines of credit. During 2003, we had a $50.0 million committed revolving credit facility. This facility was amended on April 29, 2003, November 27, 2002
and March 25, 2002, and would have expired on December 28, 2004. We paid a facility fee even if no portion of the line of credit was used. In addition, in
February 2003, we entered into an uncommitted line of credit for $5.0 million. There were no financial covenants or fees related to this unsecured line of credit.
 

In December 2003, we terminated the $5.0 million uncommitted line of credit and replaced our $50.0 million committed revolving credit facility with a
new $60.0 million committed revolving credit facility (the “Facility”). Under this Facility, we may borrow U.S. dollars, euros, sterling and other major traded
currencies, as agreed by the banks. Borrowings under the Facility bear interest at the existing Alternate Base Rate or LIBOR plus a margin as determined by our
compliance with certain tests of our financial condition. The Facility has financial tests we must meet or exceed relating to:
 

 
• Fixed charge coverage (defined as consolidated EBITDAR minus consolidated capital expenditures to consolidated interest expense plus consolidated

rental payments plus restricted payments). EBITDAR is defined as earnings before interest expense, taxes, depreciation, amortization and rental
payments plus interest income;

 
 • Leverage (defined as consolidated total indebtedness to consolidated EBITDA plus interest income);
 
 • Current ratio (defined as current assets divided by current liabilities); and
 
 • Net worth.
 

The Facility sets limits on our ability to make acquisitions without bank approval and to incur additional debt outside of the Facility. We must pay a facility
fee whether or not the Facility is used during the year.
 

In March 2004, we amended the Facility (“Amendment No. 1”) to reduce the net worth covenant from $145.0 million to $110.0 million. This amendment
was required as a result of the non-cash income tax expense of $57.9 million, recorded in the fourth quarter of 2003, which provided a full valuation allowance
for the net deferred tax assets related to the U.S. and certain foreign operations that comprise the U.S. income tax entity. See Note 7, Income Taxes, in the
unaudited Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
 

There were no borrowings outstanding under the lines of credit at September 30, 2004 or December 31, 2003. At September 30, 2004, we were in
compliance with the financial covenants of the Facility, and no event of default existed.
 

Cash and cash equivalents. Cash and cash equivalents were $280.2 million and $110.2 million at September 30, 2004 and 2003, respectively. The amount
of cash and cash equivalents at December 31, 2003 was $119.3 million. In October 2004, we paid $53.1 million to the consultants involved in the 2001 Google
executive search under the terms of our compensation policy with respect to warrants.
 

Cash from operating activities. For the nine months ended September 30, 2004, cash provided by operating activities was $28.6 million, primarily as a
result of an increase in bonus-related accruals and income taxes payable, offset by payments related to the restructuring charges and an increase in trade
receivables.
 

For the nine months ended September 30, 2003, cash provided by operating activities was $3.2 million, reflecting our net loss, payments related to the
restructuring charges, an increase in trade receivables and the payment of bonuses in March 2003, offset by the refund of approximately $15.1 million of U.S.
income taxes paid in prior years arising from the carryback of net operating losses.
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Cash from investing activities. Cash provided by investing activities was $125.1 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2004 primarily as a result
of the net proceeds of $128.8 million from the sale of our shares of common stock of Google. Cash used in investing activities was $3.2 million for the nine
months ended September 30, 2003. Capital expenditures were $3.9 million and $4.2 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2004 and 2003,
respectively.
 

Cash from financing activities. Cash provided by financing activities for the nine months ended September 30, 2004 was $6.9 million primarily as a result
of stock options exercised. Cash used in financing activities was $2.8 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2003 primarily as a result of repurchases
of our common stock.
 

The repurchases of our common stock were made in accordance with the March 6, 2001 Board of Directors’ authorization for management to repurchase
up to an aggregate of 2 million shares of our common stock with an aggregate purchase price up to $100 million through March 5, 2003. From February 25, 2003
through March 5, 2003, we repurchased 288,000 shares of common stock for $3.2 million.
 

On May 22, 2003, our Board of Directors authorized management to repurchase up to an aggregate of 1 million shares of our common stock with an
aggregate purchase price up to $20 million through May 21, 2005. No purchases of our common stock have been made under this authorization.
 

On October 22, 2004, our Board of Directors authorized management to repurchase shares of our common stock with an aggregate purchase price up to
$30 million. Also at this time, the previous authorization to purchase up to $20 million through May 21, 2005 was cancelled. We have purchased 85,000 shares of
our common stock for $2.5 million under this authorization through November 9, 2004.
 
Application of Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates
 Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations is based upon our Consolidated Financial Statements, which have
been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Our significant accounting policies are discussed in
Note 1, Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in our Annual Report to Shareholders on Form
10-K for the year ended December 31, 2003, as filed with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission on March 12, 2004. The preparation of these financial
statements requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses, and related
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities. Management bases its estimates on historical experience and on various other assumptions that are believed to be
reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making judgments about the carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily
apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates under different assumptions or conditions. If actual amounts are ultimately different
from previous estimates, the revisions are included in our results of operations for the period in which the actual amounts become known.
 

An accounting policy is deemed to be critical if it requires an accounting estimate to be made based on assumptions about matters that are highly uncertain
at the time the estimate is made, and if different estimates that reasonably could have been used, or changes in the accounting estimates that are reasonably likely
to occur periodically, could materially impact the financial statements. Management believes its critical accounting policies that reflect its more significant
estimates and assumptions include revenue recognition, accruals related to the consolidation and closing of offices recorded as part of our restructuring, income
taxes, goodwill and other intangible assets and allowance for doubtful accounts. See Application of Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates in Item 7,
Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations included in our Annual Report to Shareholders on Form 10-K for the
year ended December 31, 2003, as filed with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission on March 12, 2004.
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Recently Issued Financial Accounting Standards
 In May 2003, the FASB issued SFAS No. 150, “Accounting for Certain Financial Instruments with Characteristics of both Liabilities and Equity.” This
Statement establishes standards for the classification and measurement of certain financial instruments with characteristics of both liabilities and equity. The
Statement also includes required disclosures for financial instruments within its scope. The Statement was effective for instruments entered into or modified after
May 31, 2003 and otherwise was effective as of January 1, 2004, except for mandatorily redeemable financial instruments. For certain mandatorily redeemable
financial instruments, the Statement will be effective on January 1, 2005. The effective date has been deferred indefinitely for certain other types of mandatorily
redeemable financial instruments. We currently do not have any financial instruments that are within the scope of this Statement.
 

In December 2003, the FASB revised SFAS No. 132, “Employers’ Disclosures about Pensions and Other Postretirement Benefits.” The disclosure
requirements of SFAS 132 were revised to require more complete information in both annual and interim financial statements about pension and postretirement
benefits as well as to increase the transparency of the financial reporting related to those plans and benefits. Except as noted, the revised disclosure requirements
are effective for financial statements with fiscal years ending after December 15, 2003. The interim-period disclosures related to net periodic benefit cost required
by the revised Statement are effective for interim periods beginning after December 15, 2003. We adopted the interim-period disclosure requirements of SFAS
132 related to net periodic benefit cost on January 1, 2004. The additional disclosure of information about employer contributions related to foreign plans
required by the revised statement is effective for fiscal years ending after June 15, 2004 and interim periods beginning with the first quarter of 2005. The adoption
of these revisions of SFAS No. 132 impacted the disclosures related to our foreign pension plan in 2004 and will further impact the disclosures in 2005, and did
not have a material impact on the our financial condition or results of operations.
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ITEM 3. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURE ABOUT MARKET RISK
 Derivative instruments. We receive warrants for equity securities in our client companies, in addition to our cash fee, for services rendered on some
searches. The warrants are initially recorded at fair value. Some of the warrants in our portfolio meet the definition of a derivative instrument under Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 133, “Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities,” and its subsequent amendments. In
accordance with SFAS No. 133, changes in the fair value of the derivatives are recorded in the Consolidated Statements of Operations. Each quarter’s results of
operations may be affected by the fluctuations in the fair value of these derivative instruments. Upon a value event such as an initial public offering or an
acquisition, the equity securities arising from the exercise of the warrants are recorded at fair value, resulting in an unrealized gain, net of the consultants’ share of
the gain and other costs. During the nine months ended September 30, 2004, we recognized $57.0 million of realized gains related to our equity and warrant
portfolio. During the nine months ended September 30, 2003, we recognized $0.6 million of realized gains and $0.2 million of unrealized losses, net of the
consultants’ share of the gains (losses) and other costs, related to our equity and warrant portfolio.
 

Currency market risk. With our operations in North America, Latin America, Europe and Asia Pacific we conduct business using various currencies.
Revenue earned in each country is generally matched with the associated expenses incurred, thereby reducing currency risk to earnings. However, because certain
assets and liabilities are denominated in currencies other than the U.S. dollar, changes in currency rates may cause fluctuations in the valuation of such assets and
liabilities. As the local currency of our subsidiaries has been designated as the functional currency, we are affected by the translation of foreign currency financial
statements into U.S. dollars. Outside of North America, Europe is our largest region in terms of net revenue. Based on our net income of $73.3 million for the
nine months ended September 30, 2004, a 1% change in the average exchange rate of the British pound and the euro would have increased or decreased our net
income by less than $0.1 million. For financial information by geographic segment, see Note 5, Segment Information, in the unaudited Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements.
 
ITEM 4. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
 (a) Evaluation and Disclosure Controls and Procedures
 Disclosure controls and procedures are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed in the reports filed or submitted under the Exchange
Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported, within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms. Disclosure controls and procedures include,
without limitation, controls and procedures designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed in the reports filed under the Exchange Act is
accumulated and communicated to management, including the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions
regarding required disclosure.
 

As of the end of the period covered by this report, the Company carried out an evaluation, under the supervision and with the participation of the
Company’s management, including the Company’s Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer, of the effectiveness of the design and operation of the
Company’s disclosure controls and procedures. Based upon that evaluation, the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer concluded that the
Company’s disclosure controls and procedures are effective to ensure that information required to be disclosed in the reports the Company files or submits under
the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported as and when required.
 
(b) Changes in Internal Controls Over Financial Reporting
 There were no changes in the Company’s internal controls over financial reporting during the period covered by this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q that
have materially affected or are reasonably likely to materially affect our internal control over financial reporting.
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PART II. OTHER INFORMATION
 Item 1. Legal Proceedings
 We have contingent liabilities from various pending claims and litigation matters arising in the course of our business, some of which involve claims for
damages that are substantial in amount. Some of these matters are covered by insurance. Although our ultimate liability in these matters cannot be determined,
based upon information currently available, we believe the ultimate resolution of such claims and litigation will not have a material adverse effect on our financial
condition, results of operations or liquidity.
 

In December 2002, Mt. Sinai Medical Center of Miami filed suit against us regarding a search for a chief executive officer we performed in 1998 seeking
damages, including between $59 million and $75 million based primarily upon the operating loss incurred by Mt. Sinai in 2001, the chief executive officer’s last
year at the hospital. On June 30, 2004, the judge presiding over this case in the U.S. District Court for the Southern District of Florida granted summary
judgment, dismissing all the claims made by Mt. Sinai. Mt Sinai has filed a notice of appeal with respect to this decision. While there can be no assurance as to
the outcome, we believe that the claims are without merit.
 
Item 6. Exhibits and Reports on Form 8-K
 (a) Exhibits
 

Exhibit No.

  

Description

3.01
  

Form of Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Registrant (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.02 of this Registrant’s
Registration Statement on Form S-4 (File No. 333-61023))

3.02
  

Form of Amended and Restated By-laws of the Registrant (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.03 of this Registrant’s Registration
Statement on Form S-4 (File No. 333-61023))

4.01
  

Specimen Stock Certificate (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.01 of this Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-4 (File No. 333-
61023))

* 10.01  Form of Heidrick & Struggles Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement

* 10.02  Form of Heidrick & Struggles Restricted Stock Unit Participation Agreement

* 31.1  Certification of the Company’s Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

* 31.2  Certification of the Company’s Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

* 32.1
  

Certification of the Company’s Chief Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

* 32.2
  

Certification of the Company’s Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

* Filed herewith.
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(b) Reports on Form 8-K
 On July 20, 2004, we furnished a report under Item 5 and Item 7 regarding a press release announcing the election of Paul Unruh to the Board of Directors.
 

On July 30, 2004, we furnished a report under Item 7 and Item 12 regarding a news release reporting our 2004 second quarter financial results.
 

On August 5, 2004, we furnished a report under Item 7 and Item 9 regarding an Investor Relations Presentation.
 

On September 17, 2004, we filed a report under Item 8.01 and Item 9.01 announcing a significant warrant program monetization.
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SIGNATURE
 Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto
duly authorized.
 
Date: November 8, 2004
 

Heidrick & Struggles International, Inc.
        (Registrant)

By:
 

/s/ Eileen A. Kamerick

  Eileen A. Kamerick
  Chief Financial Officer
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Exhibit 10.01
 SAMPLE OPTION AGREEMENT
 

Heidrick & Struggles International, Inc.
Stock Option Program

 
Date of Option Grant:                    , 200    

Option Price per Share:   $             

Option Termination Date:                    , 200    

No. of Shares:   YYYY

Vesting Schedule:    
 

Vesting Date

 

Shares Vesting

                 , 200     XXXX
                 , 200     XXXX
                 , 200     XXXX

 
HEIDRICK & STRUGGLES INTERNATIONAL, INC.
NON-QUALIFIED STOCK OPTION AGREEMENT

 
Heidrick & Struggles International, Inc. (the “Company”), pursuant to the 1998 Heidrick & Struggles GlobalShare Program I, as amended (the “Program”),
hereby grants to
 

John Q. Sample (the “Participant”)
 an option (the “Option”) to purchase the number specified above of shares of the Company’s common stock, par value $.01 (the “Shares”), at the Option Price per
Share specified above. This Option is granted pursuant to the Program and is governed by the terms and conditions of the Program. All defined terms used herein,
unless specifically defined in this Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement (the “Agreement”), have the meanings assigned to them in the Program. The
Participant agrees to be bound by all terms and conditions of the Agreement and the Program, as amended from time to time.
 

To be effective, the Agreement must be signed by the Participant and returned to Steve Dickinson at the Chicago Corporate Office. Agreements that are not
signed and returned are considered null and void.
 
1. EXERCISE PERIOD
 (1) Subject to subsection (2) below and Paragraphs 5 and 8 hereof, the Participant may exercise the Option with respect to (a) 33.33% of the number of
Shares specified above on or after the first anniversary of the Date of Option Grant specified above and (b) an additional 33.33% of the number of Shares
specified above on or after each of the next two anniversaries of the Date of Option Grant; provided, however, that the Option shall terminate at the close of
business on the Option Termination Date specified above. The Option may be exercised in whole or in part, but only with respect to full Shares, and shall be void
and of no effect after the Option Termination Date, unless earlier canceled pursuant to Paragraph 5 hereof.
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(2) In the event of a Change in Control, the Option, to the extent not previously exercisable and vested, shall become fully exercisable and vested as of the
time of the Change in Control. Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, the Committee in its sole discretion and without liability to any Person may take
such actions, if any, as it deems necessary or desirable with respect to the Option (including, without limitation, (x) the payment of a cash amount in exchange for
the cancellation of the Option and/or (y) the requiring of the issuance of a substitute Option that will substantially preserve the value, rights and benefits of the
Option granted hereunder) as of the time of the Change in Control. Any such determination by the Committee shall be final and binding upon the Company and
the Participant.
 

For purposes of the Agreement, Change in Control shall mean the occurrence of any of the following events:
 

 

(i) any Person (other than the Company, any trustee or other fiduciary holding securities under an employee benefit plan of the Company,
or any company owned, directly or indirectly, by the stockholders of the Company in substantially the same proportions as their
ownership of stock of the Company), becomes the Beneficial Owner, directly or indirectly, of securities of the Company representing
30% or more of the combined voting power of the Company’s then-outstanding securities;

 

 

(ii) during any period of 24 months (not including any period prior to June 30, 2002), individuals who, at the beginning of such period,
constitute the Board, and any new director (other than (A) a director nominated by a Person who has entered into an agreement with
the Company to effect a transaction described in subsection (2)(i), (iii) or (iv) hereof, (B) a director nominated or proposed by any
Person who has publicly announced or advised the Company of an intention to take or to consider taking actions (including, but not
limited to, an actual or threatened proxy contest) which, if consummated, would constitute a Change in Control, or (C) a director
nominated by any Person who is the Beneficial Owner, directly or indirectly, of securities of the Company representing 10% or more
of the combined voting power of the Company’s securities) whose election by the Board or nomination for election by the Company’s
stockholders was approved in advance by a vote of at least two-thirds of the directors then still in office who either were directors at
the beginning of the period or whose election or nomination for election was previously so approved, cease for any reason to constitute
at least a majority thereof;

 

 
(iii) the consummation of any transaction or series of transactions under which the Company is merged or consolidated with any other

company (other than a merger or consolidation (A) which would result in the voting securities of the Company outstanding
immediately prior thereto continuing to represent
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(either by remaining outstanding or by being converted into voting securities of the surviving entity or its parent corporation) more
than 66-2/3% of the combined voting power of the voting securities of the Company or such surviving entity or its parent corporation
outstanding immediately after such merger or consolidation and (B) after which no Person holds 30% or more of the combined voting
power of the then-outstanding securities of the Company or such surviving entity or its parent corporation);

 
 

(iv) the consummation of a plan of complete liquidation of the Company or of a sale or disposition by the Company of all or substantially
all of the Company’s assets; or

 
 (v) any other event occurs which the Board determines, in its discretion, to be a Change in Control.
 Notwithstanding the foregoing, a Change in Control shall not occur with respect to the Participant by reason of any event which would

otherwise constitute a Change in Control if, immediately after the occurrence of such event, (x) the Company ceases to be subject to the
requirement to file reports pursuant to Section 13 or Section 15(d) of the Act and no more than 50% of the then outstanding shares of
common stock of the Company or any acquiror or successor to substantially all of the business of the Company is owned, directly or
indirectly, by any entity subject to such requirements and (y) individuals (which may or may not include the Participant) who were executive
officers of the Company immediately prior to the occurrence of such event, own, directly or indirectly, on a fully diluted basis, (1) 25% or
more of the then outstanding shares of common stock of the Company or any acquiror or successor to substantially all of the business of the
Company or (2) 25% or more of the combined voting power of the then outstanding voting securities of the Company or any acquiror or
successor to substantially all of the business of the Company entitled to vote generally in the election of directors.

 
2. HOW TO EXERCISE THE OPTION
 The Option may be exercised either by (i) delivery, via first class mail or telecopy, of a Notice of Option Exercise and related forms to the custodian
appointed by the Committee from time to time (the “Custodian”) at the address prescribed on the Notice of Option Exercise stating the number of Shares with
respect to which the Option is being exercised and accompanied by (a) payment, by check, bank draft, money order or wire transfer made payable to the order of
the Company, of an amount equal to the Option Price multiplied by the number of Shares being purchased pursuant to the Option (the “Total Exercise Cost”), (b)
an Authorization for Exercise of Stock Options “Cashless” Exercise Form with irrevocable instructions to the Custodian to deliver promptly to the Company an
amount equal to the Total Exercise Cost, subject to such limitations as the Committee may adopt from time to time, or (c) any combination of the above methods
of payment; or (ii) via the Custodians electronic response system or website, if any (“ERS”).
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3. WITHHOLDING TAXES
 At the time of exercise, the Participant may be required to pay to the Company, via the Custodian, or make other arrangements for payment of (including
the withholding of Shares which would otherwise be delivered upon exercise), the amount that the Company deems necessary to satisfy its obligation, if any, to
withhold federal, state or local income or other taxes incurred by reason of the exercise, including taxes incurred in non-US jurisdictions by Participants or non-
US Participants. The Participant hereby grants to the Company the right to direct the Custodian to deliver Shares (or the proceeds thereof) to the Company to
enable it to meet any such withholding obligation it determines to exist.
 
4. DELIVERY OF STOCK TO THE PARTICIPANT AFTER THE EXERCISE
 As soon as practicable after (i) receipt of (x) the Notice of Option Exercise and payment of the Total Exercise Cost or (y) confirmation of any transaction
received through the ERS and (ii) payment of any required withholding taxes, the Custodian shall, without transfer or issue tax or other incidental expense to the
Participant, deliver to the Participant by first-class insured mail addressed to the Participant at the address shown on the applicable Notice of Option Exercise or
the last address of record on file with the Custodian, or direct deposit, if applicable, (a) a statement from the Custodian referencing the number of Shares held in
the Participant’s name in book entry account, or (b) at the Participant’s request, certificate(s) for the number of Shares as to which the Option has been exercised,
and/or (c) the proceeds of the sale of Shares in excess of the Total Exercise Cost for a cash/cashless exercise.
 
5. TERMINATION OF EMPLOYMENT PRIOR TO END OF EXERCISE PERIOD
 (1) Termination by Reason of Death or Disability. In the event that the Participant ceases to be employed by the Company by reason of death or Disability,
all outstanding options (vested and non-vested) shall become 100% exercisable and the Participant (or his or her estate, as the case may be) shall be entitled to
exercise the Option for a period of 180 days thereafter, but in no event beyond the Option Termination Date.
 

(2) Termination for any Reason other than Death, Disability or Cause. If the Participant ceases to be employed by the Company, its Subsidiaries and/or its
Affiliates for any reason other than death, Disability or Cause, the Option shall terminate immediately to the extent the Option is not yet exercisable pursuant to
Paragraph 1 hereof. Subject to Paragraph 8, to the extent the Option is exercisable pursuant to Paragraph 1 hereof but has not been previously exercised, the
Participant shall be entitled to exercise the Option for a period of sixty (60) days after such termination of employment, but in no event beyond the Option
Termination Date.
 

(3) Termination for Cause. If the Participant ceases to be employed by the Company, its Subsidiaries and/or its Affiliates by reason of termination for
Cause, the option shall be cancelled to the extent not previously exercised and all rights here under and under the Program shall terminate on the date of
termination of employment.
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6. LEAVE OF ABSENCE PRIOR TO END OF EXERCISE PERIOD
 (1) Leave of Absence Due to Disability. In the event a Participant is on an approved disability leave in accordance with the applicable practices of the
Company, its Subsidiaries and/or Affiliates, all unvested options will continue to vest in accordance with the Vesting Schedule and may be fully or partially
exercised pursuant to Paragraph 1 hereof.
 

(2) Approved Leave of Absence. In the event a Participant takes a leave of absence approved by the Company, its Subsidiaries and/or Affiliates, all
unvested options will continue to vest in accordance with the Vesting Schedule and may be fully or partially exercised pursuant to Paragraph 1 hereof.
 
7. OPTION CANNOT BE ASSIGNED
 The Option shall, during the Participant’s lifetime, be exercisable only by the Participant, and neither it nor any right hereunder or under the Program shall
be transferable otherwise than by will or the laws of descent and distribution, or be subject to attachment, execution or other similar process; provided, however,
that to the extent permitted by applicable law, the Participant may designate a beneficiary pursuant to procedures which may be established by the Committee. In
the event of any attempt by the Participant to alienate, assign, pledge, hypothecate or otherwise dispose of the Option or of any right hereunder or under the
Program, except as provided for in the Program, or in the event of any levy or any attachment, execution or similar process upon the rights or interest conferred
by the Option, the Company may terminate the Option by notice to the Participant and the Option shall thereupon be canceled. Any person or persons to whom
the Participant’s rights under the Option have passed by will or by the applicable laws of descent and distribution shall be subject to all the terms and conditions
of the Program and the Agreement applicable to the Participant.
 
8. GENERAL RULES
 Neither the grant nor the exercise of the Option shall confer on the Participant any right to be retained in the employ of the Company, its Subsidiaries
and/or Affiliates, or to receive subsequent stock options or other Awards under the Program. The right of the Company or one of any of its Subsidiaries and/or
Affiliates to terminate at will (whether by dismissal, discharge or otherwise) the Participant’s employment at any time is specifically reserved.
 

Neither the Participant nor any person entitled to exercise the Participant’s rights in the event of his or her death shall have any of the rights of a
stockholder with respect to the Shares subject to the Option, except to the extent that, and until, Shares have been issued upon exercise of the Option.
 

It is the desire of the parties that all provisions of the Agreement (particularly including Paragraph 5 hereof) be enforced to the fullest extent permissible
under the laws and public policies in each jurisdiction in which enforcement might be sought, and therefore, wherever possible, each provision of the Agreement
shall be interpreted in such manner as to be effective and valid under applicable law. If any provision of the Agreement shall be definitively determined by a court
of competent jurisdiction, or other agency or tribunal with proper adjudicatory authority, to be prohibited by or invalid under applicable law, the entire Agreement
shall be void ab initio and the grant of the Option hereunder shall be revoked so that any Option not previously exercised (whether vested or unvested) shall
terminate immediately, unless the Company affirmatively elects in writing to have the remainder of the Agreement remain in force and the Option remain
exercisable.
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The parties agree that the Agreement shall be governed by and interpreted and construed in accordance with the laws of the United States and, in particular,
those of the State of Illinois without regard to its conflict of law principles, as Illinois is the situs of the principal corporate office of the Company. Furthermore,
unless the Company affirmatively elects in writing to allow the proceeding to be brought (or itself brings) such a proceeding in a different venue, the parties agree
that any suit, action or proceeding with respect to the Agreement shall be brought in the state courts in Chicago, Illinois or in the U.S. District Court for the
Northern District. The parties hereby accept the exclusive jurisdiction of those courts for the purpose of any such suit, action or proceeding. Venue for any such
action, in addition to any other venue required or otherwise mandated by statute, will be in Chicago, Illinois. Each party further agrees to waive any applicable
right to a jury trial, and expressly elects to have the matter heard as a bench trial.
 

All terms and conditions of the Program are incorporated herein and made part hereof as if stated herein. If there is any conflict between the terms and
conditions of the Program and the Agreement, the terms and conditions of the Program, as interpreted by the Committee, shall govern.
 

HEIDRICK & STRUGGLES INTERNATIONAL, INC.

By:
 

 

Name:  Fritz Freidinger
Title:  Chief Legal Officer

 
I hereby acknowledge receipt of this Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement and a copy of the Program, and agree to be bound by the rules and procedures
pertaining thereto (including without limitation Paragraph 8 hereof).
 

 
Signature  Date
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Exhibit 10.02
 SAMPLE RSU AGREEMENT
 

PARTICIPATION AGREEMENT
 

This Participation Agreement (the “Agreement”) is entered into as of this          day of                     , 200     by and between Heidrick & Struggles
International, Inc. (the Company”) and John Q. Sample (the “Participant”).
 

R E C I T A L S
 

WHEREAS, the Board and the Stockholders of the Company adopted the 1998 Heidrick & Struggles GlobalShare Program I, as amended (the “Program”);
 

WHEREAS, as of                  , 200     (the “Grant Date”), the Company has granted Restricted Stock Units (“RSUs”) to the Participant as set forth below,
although the grant of RSUs to such Participant shall not become valid or enforceable unless and until the Participant executes the Agreement and it is accepted by
the Company;
 

WHEREAS, the Company and the Participant hereby set forth the terms and conditions that govern the grant of RSUs by the Company to the Participant.
 

NOW, THEREFORE, for good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the parties agree as follows:
 1. Definitions. All capitalized terms used herein, unless specifically defined herein, shall have the same meanings as established in the Program.
 

2. Participation. Pursuant to the Program, and contingent upon the execution of the Agreement, the Company hereby grants to the Participant YYY RSUs
subject to the terms and conditions herein. As a material condition and inducement to the Company providing said RSUs to the Participant, such Participant
agrees that he or she has received and reviewed the Program and the Prospectus and further agrees to be bound by all of the terms and conditions of the
Agreement and the Program, as may be amended by the Company from time to time (including without limitation Paragraph 8 hereof).
 

3. Vesting of RSUs.
 
 

a. All RSUs granted hereunder which have not previously been forfeited under the terms hereof shall vest in accordance with the schedule set
forth below, unless the RSUs otherwise vest on an earlier date pursuant to the terms of Section 3(b) below.

 
Vesting Date

 

Number of Shares Vesting

                 , 200     XXX
                 , 200     XXX
                 , 200     XXX
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b. Notwithstanding the terms of Section 3(a) above, all unvested RSUs of the Participant which were not previously forfeited will immediately

vest upon:
 (i) death or Disability of the Participant; or
 (ii) a Change in Control.
 

 

c. Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, the Committee in its sole discretion and without liability to any Person may take such
actions, if any, as it deems necessary or desirable with respect to the RSUs granted hereunder, (including, without limitation, (x) the payment
of a cash amount in exchange for the cancellation of such RSUs; and/or (y) the requiring of the issuance of substitute RSUs that will
substantially preserve the value, rights and benefits of the RSUs granted hereunder) as of the time of the Change in Control. Any such
determination by the Committee shall be final and binding upon the Company and the Participant.

 For purposes of the Agreement, “Change in Control” shall mean the occurrence of the following events:
 

 

(i) any Person (other than the Company, any trustee or other fiduciary holding securities under an employee benefit plan of the Company, or any
company owned, directly or indirectly, by the stockholders of the Company in substantially the same proportions as their ownership of stock
of the Company), becomes the Beneficial Owner, directly or indirectly, of securities of the Company representing 30% or more of the
combined voting power of the Company’s then-outstanding securities;

 

 

(ii) during any period of 24 months (not including any period prior to June 30, 2002), individuals who, at the beginning of such period,
constitute the Board, and any new director (other than (A) a director nominated by a Person who has entered into an agreement with the
Company to effect a transaction described in Section 3(b)(i), (iii) or (iv) hereof, (B) a director nominated or proposed by any Person who has
publicly announced or advised the Company of an intention to take or to consider taking actions (including, but not limited to, an actual or
threatened proxy contest) which, if consummated, would constitute a Change in Control, or (C) a director nominated by any Person who is
the Beneficial Owner, directly or indirectly, of securities of the Company representing 10% or more of the combined voting power of the
Company’s securities) whose election by the Board or nomination for election by the Company’s stockholders was approved in advance by a
vote of at least two-thirds of the directors then still in office who either were directors at the beginning of the period or whose election or
nomination for election was previously so approved, cease for any reason to constitute at least a majority thereof;
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(iii) the consummation of any transaction or series of transactions under which the Company is merged or consolidated with any other company
(other than a merger or consolidation (A) which would result in the voting securities of the Company outstanding immediately prior thereto
continuing to represent (either by remaining outstanding or by being converted into voting securities of the surviving entity or its parent
corporation) more than 66 2/3% of the combined voting power of the voting securities of the Company or such surviving entity or its parent
corporation outstanding immediately after such merger or consolidation and (B) after which no Person holds 30% or more of the combined
voting power of the then-outstanding securities of the Company or such surviving entity or its parent corporation);

 
 

(iv) the consummation of a plan of complete liquidation of the Company or of a sale or disposition by the Company of all or substantially all of
the Company’s assets; or

 
 (v) any other event occurs which the Board determines, in its discretion, to be a Change in Control.
 Notwithstanding the foregoing, a Change in Control shall not occur with respect to the Participant by reason of any event which would otherwise

constitute a Change in Control if, immediately after the occurrence of such event, (x) the Company ceases to be subject to the requirement to file
reports pursuant to Section 13 or Section 15(d) of the Act and no more than 50% of the then outstanding shares of common stock of the Company or
any acquiror or successor to substantially all of the business of the Company is owned, directly or indirectly, by any entity subject to such
requirements and (y) individuals (which may or may not include the Participant) who were executive officers of the Company immediately prior to
the occurrence of such event, own, directly or indirectly, on a fully diluted basis, (1) 25% or more of the then outstanding shares of common stock of
the Company or any acquiror or successor to substantially all of the business of the Company or (2) 25% or more of the combined voting power of
the then outstanding voting securities of the Company or any acquiror or successor to substantially all of the business of the Company entitled to
vote generally in the election of directors.

 
 

d. The Participant’s unvested RSUs shall be forfeited if the Participant’s employment terminates, either voluntarily or involuntarily, before the
RSUs vest pursuant to Section 3(a) or Section 3(b).

 
4. Characteristics of RSUs.

 

 
a. RSUs are not Shares and owning RSUs, whether vested or unvested, shall provide only those rights expressly set forth in the Agreement and

the Program. The Participant is not deemed to be a stockholder in the Company or have any of the rights of a stockholder in the Company by
virtue of the ownership of RSUs.
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b. The Participant does not have voting rights or any other rights inherent to the ownership of Shares, including the rights to dividends, or other

liquidating or non-liquidating distributions, by virtue of being granted RSUs, whether vested or unvested.
 

 

c. The RSUs shall, during the Participant’s lifetime, be exercisable only by the Participant, and neither the RSUs nor any right hereunder or
under the Program shall be transferable or be subject to attachment, execution or other similar process. In the event of any attempt by the
Participant to alienate, assign, pledge, hypothecate or otherwise dispose of the RSUs or of any right hereunder or under the Program, except
as provided for in the Program, or in the event of any levy or any attachment, execution or similar process upon the rights or interest
conferred by the RSUs, the Company may terminate the RSUs by notice to the Participant and the RSUs shall thereupon be canceled.

 

 
d. Notwithstanding the terms of this Section 4, upon the death of the Participant holding RSUs which vested upon his or her death, or which

had earlier vested but had not been converted into Shares, the RSUs shall immediately convert into Shares and be considered held by the
Participant on his or her death.

 
5. Effect of Vesting.

 

 
a. If, and at the time, the Participant’s RSUs vest under the terms of Section 3, such Participant shall receive as full consideration for the RSUs

a number of Shares equal to the number of RSUs which vested on such date. The Participant shall have no right to receive any payments
hereunder in a form other than Shares.

 

 
b. The RSUs granted to the Participant shall be maintained in an account with the custodian appointed by the Committee from time to time (the

“Custodian”) for such Participant if and until the RSUs are converted into Shares pursuant to this Section 5, at which time the Shares shall be
issued to the Participant in accordance with Section 6 below.

 
6. Delivery of Shares to the Participant. As soon as practicable after the RSUs vest and are converted into Shares, the Custodian shall, without transfer or

issue tax or other incidental expense to the Participant, deliver to the Participant by first-class insured mail addressed to the Participant at the address shown
below or the last address of record on file with the Custodian, (a) a statement from the Custodian referencing the number of Shares held in the Participant’s name
in book entry account, or (b) at the Participant’s request, certificate(s) for the number of Shares as to which the RSUs vested.
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7. Tax Withholdings and Payments.
 

 

a. The Company or any Subsidiary or Affiliate is authorized to withhold from any payment to be made to the Participant, including any payroll
and other payments not related to the Program and payments from the sale of Shares, amounts of income withholding and other taxes due in
connection with compensation or any other transaction under the Program, including the receipt of Shares under Section 5 or disposition of
Shares acquired under the Program, and the Participant’s execution of the Agreement will be deemed to constitute his or her consent to any
withholding method the Company elects to use. At the time of issuance or disposition of Shares acquired under the Program, the Company
may require the Participant to make other arrangements to meet tax withholding obligations as a condition to issuance or distribution of
Shares or cash from the Participant’s account. The Participant shall hold the Company harmless for any damages caused by his or her failure
to so comply and for any other damages caused by his or her actions or inactions.

 

 
b. To the extent permitted by the Company, the Participant may elect to pay a portion or all of such withholding taxes by (a) delivery in Shares

or (b) having Shares withheld by the Company from any Shares that would have otherwise been received by the Participant. The number of
Shares so delivered or withheld shall have an aggregate Fair Market Value sufficient to satisfy the applicable withholding taxes.

 
8. Miscellaneous.

 

 

a. No Right to Continued Relationship; No Obligation of Uniform Treatment. The granting of an Award under the Program and the Agreement
shall impose no obligation on the Company or any Subsidiary or Affiliate to continue the employment or independent contractor relationship
or any other relationship between it and the Participant and shall not lessen or affect the Company’s, Subsidiary’s or Affiliates right to
terminate its relationship with the Participant. The Participant shall have no claim to be granted any further or other Award under the
Program, and there is no obligation for uniformity of treatment of the Participants.

 
 

b. Term. The Agreement shall, subject the terms hereof, terminate upon the forfeiture and/or vesting of all RSUs granted to the Participant
hereunder, unless otherwise agreed upon by the parties hereto.

 

 
c. Amendments. The Agreement may be amended by the written agreement of the Company and the Participant. Notwithstanding the foregoing,

the Company may: (i) amend, alter or discontinue the Agreement, without the consent of the Participant so long as such amendment,
alteration or discontinuance would not impair any of the rights or obligations under any
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Award theretofore granted to the Participant under the Program; and (ii) amend the Agreement in such manner as it deems necessary to
permit the granting of Awards meeting the requirements of the Code or other applicable laws. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary
herein, the Board may not amend, alter or discontinue the provisions of Section 8 hereinafter the occurrence of a Change in Control.

 

 

d. Choice of Law. The parties agree that the Agreement shall be governed by and interpreted and construed in accordance with the laws of the
United States and, in particular, those of the State of Illinois without regard to its conflict of law principles, as Illinois is the situs of the
principal corporate office of the Company. Furthermore, unless the Company affirmatively elects in writing to allow the proceeding to be
brought (or itself brings) such a proceeding in a different venue, the parties agree that any suit, action or proceeding with respect to the
Program, the RSUs or the Agreement shall be brought in the state courts in Chicago, Illinois or in the U.S. District Court for the Northern
District of Illinois. The parties hereby accept the exclusive jurisdiction of those courts for the purpose of any such suit, action or proceeding.
Venue for any such action, in addition to any other venue required or otherwise mandated by statute, will be in Chicago, Illinois. Each party
further agrees to waive any applicable right to a jury trial, and expressly elects to have the matter heard as a bench trial.

 
 

e. Notices. Unless waived by the Company, any notice to the Company required under or relating to the Agreement shall be in writing and
addressed to:

 General Counsel
Heidrick & Struggles International, Inc.
233 South Wacker Drive
Suite 4200
Chicago, IL 60606-6303

 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have signed the Agreement as of the date hereof.
 
HEIDRICK & STRUGGLES INTERNATIONAL, INC.

John Q. Sample



Exhibit 31.1
 CERTIFICATION
 
I, Thomas J. Friel, certify that:
 1. I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of Heidrick & Struggles International, Inc.;
 2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the

statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
 3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial

condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
 4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange

Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for the registrant and have:
 

 
(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision,

to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within
those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

 
 

(b) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

 

 
(c) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most

recent fiscal quarter that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial
reporting; and

 5. The registrants’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

 
 

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

 
 

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting.

 
Dated: November 8, 2004

 

/s/ Thomas J. Friel

  Chief Executive Officer



Exhibit 31.2
 

CERTIFICATION
 
I, Eileen A. Kamerick, certify that:
 1. I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of Heidrick & Struggles International, Inc.;
 2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the

statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
 3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial

condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
 4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange

Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for the registrant and have:
 

 
(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision,

to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within
those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

 
 

(b) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

 

 
(c) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most

recent fiscal quarter that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial
reporting; and

 5. The registrants’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

 
 

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

 
 

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting.

 
Dated: November 8, 2004

 

/s/ Eileen A. Kamerick

  Chief Financial Officer



Exhibit 32.1
 CERTIFICATION

Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
(Subsections (a) and (b) of Section 1350, Chapter 63 of Title 18, United States Code)

 
Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (subsections (a) and (b) of Section 1350, Chapter 63 of Title 18, United States Code), the

undersigned officer of Heidrick & Struggles International, Inc., a Delaware corporation (the “Company”), does hereby certify that:
 The Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2004 (the “Form 10-Q”) of the Company fully complies with the requirements of
section 13 (a) or 15 (d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and the information contained in the Form 10-Q fairly presents, in all material respects, the
financial condition and results of operations of the Company.
 
Dated: November 8, 2004

 

/s/ Thomas J. Friel

  Chief Executive Officer



Exhibit 32.2
 CERTIFICATION

Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
(Subsections (a) and (b) of Section 1350, Chapter 63 of Title 18, United States Code)

 
Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (subsections (a) and (b) of Section 1350, Chapter 63 of Title 18, United States Code), the

undersigned officer of Heidrick & Struggles International, Inc., a Delaware corporation (the “Company”), does hereby certify that:
 The Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2004 (the “Form 10-Q”) of the Company fully complies with the requirements of
section 13 (a) or 15 (d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and the information contained in the Form 10-Q fairly presents, in all material respects, the
financial condition and results of operations of the Company.
 
Dated: November 8, 2004

 

/s/ Eileen A. Kamerick

  Chief Financial Officer


